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  CHAPTER ONE


  It was an idyllic setting, a picture postcard of Victorian life that still thrived in America before its last vestiges were swept away by the coming of the Great War.


  Ever since the final summer of the nineteenth century, handsome Dr. Belmont DeForest Bogart and his successful artist wife, Maud, with her frizzy red hair and strong jaw, had come to a manicured spot on the shoreline of Lake Canandaigua, one of New York State’s Finger Lakes, to relax and go sailing on his deluxe yacht, Comrade, moored just two hundred feet from their gingerbread-decorated, two-story Victorian manse.


  A local brewer, Jonathan Mulhouse, had built the house in 1871 for his rotund wife and their equally hefty brood of six very fat children. Although Mulhouse himself looked like a lean and mean Abraham Lincoln, his children resembled his blubber wife more than they did himself. The Mulhouse family was the scandal of Seneca Point. The children were ridiculed for their weight and for a physical deformity inherited from Mrs. Mulhouse. None of the brood had a neck. Locals called them the “no-neck Mulhouses.” This genetic flaw also didn’t come from Mr. Mulhouse, who had one of the longest necks east of the Mississippi.


  The ridiculous appearance of the Mulhouses was not the only subject of local gossip. Rumor had it Mrs. Mulhouse allowed all her children to drink beer from her husband’s brewery even though they were underage.


  It had been with a sigh of relief that neighbors learned in 1899 that a New York doctor and his wife had taken over the Mulhouse home. “To judge from the size of Mr. Bogart’s yacht moored on the lake, I think they are rich New Yorkers,” the Mayor, Frank Schmidt, proudly announced at a private dinner of the Chamber of Commerce. “From what I hear, the Bogarts are a most respectable family.”


  The arrival of the Bogarts at Canandaigua and their departure every Labor Day was considered a news event to be reported in The Canandaigua Gazette.


  On the particularly lovely summer afternoon of July 5, 1913, the spire of the tower room of the Bogart home still stood proudly after the Fourth of July fireworks. The lawns sweeping down to the lake were immaculately trimmed.


  The crops were at full bloom in the adjoining farmlands, and cows grazed in the surrounding pasturelands. Even the woods seemed quiet except for a young farmhand sneaking into the darkest part of the forest with one of the local wives whose husband was in New York City on a business trip. From his bedroom window, the teenage son, Humphrey, nicknamed, “Hump,” looked out at the weeping willows that fluttered in the wind so gracefully that their movements seemed to be the work of a choreographer.


  When Maud had first seen the fluttery willows and a bubbling brook running alongside their property, she’d dubbed their new home “Willow Brook.” She set about to furnish it with crystal, tapestries, classical statues, precious china, antiques, and Oriental carpets.


  The Bogarts’ neighbors were invariably from Boston or New York, and they’d come to Seneca Point, a rich community directly south of& ;Canandaigua, to escape from the blistering summer heat of those two cities. Wealthy businessmen hobnobbed with bankers, newspaper columnists, presidents of colleges, and even a well-cared-for clergyman who was said to drink five bottles of wine a day.
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  It was at Seneca Point that young Hump first met two men called the Warner Brothers. They were not the brothers who built a powerful Hollywood studio that would bring Hump his greatest fame when he was no longer called “Hump” but “Bogie.” These Warner Brothers, Henry and David, designed and constructed steamboats, including some showboats that sailed up and down the Mississippi.


  Even more fascinating was another pair of brothers, Frank and Arthur Hamlin, who lived next door to the Bogarts. Their father was the local banker. Ever since Hump rescued Arthur from the lake when the youngster fell off the dock, the Hamlins had told Hump he could consider “our house your second home.”


  Although Hump enjoyed playing games with the boys, he mostly liked coming over to visit their mother, Mary Hamlin, in the afternoons where she gave him rich pastries and told him& of her life in the theater.


  She wrote religious dramas which played across the country. It wasn’t Hump’s type of drama but he loved listening to her stories about life in the theater. She knew all the great actors of her day and confided the most intimate stories about their personal lives.


  “It’s a world of make-believe,” she told Hump. “You can lose yourself in the world of the theater.” Mary urged Hump and his playmates to launch an impromptu theater at the lakeshore near the bandstand, setting up their own summer playhouse.


  Until meeting Mary, Hump had never considered being an actor. When it was first suggested to him, he told Mary that it wasn’t his kind of thing. “Father wants me to be a surgeon, but I’d rather be a sailor.”


  In time, breaking from religious dramas, Mary Hamlin would write Alexander Hamilton, a play that became a hit on Broadway. Warner Brothers, Hump’s future studio, purchased the rights to it and filmed it in 1931. The movie became one of the most successful talkies of that time.


  In his bedroom, a noise distracted Hump, who went to look out the rear of his window, from which he had a good view of the carriage road that ran over a one-lane stone-built bridge at the rear of their manse.


  Their cook was receiving a load of fresh produce from a local farmer. From a horse-pulled carriage, he could see the unloading of the largest, ripest tomatoes he’d ever seen, along with peaches, potatoes, carrots, and grapes so fresh that the aroma of the vineyard rose to his second-floor open window. Maud always insisted that she get “only the best” of the local bounty before it was shipped off to the stifling city markets of New York City or Philadelphia.


  Seneca Point in those days was a staunchly Republican enclave even though only that summer, a young Democrat, Franklin Delano Roosevelt, had arrived, ostensibly on what he’d told his cronies was a “hunting expedition.” The daughters of the prosperous families of Seneca Point were said to have produced the loveliest single concentration of “female pulchritude” this side of Broadway. Roosevelt became enamored of one young belle, Beth Ferguson, whom he invited every afternoon to the lake for swimming. It was while showing off his prowess as a swimmer that Roosevelt had been stricken with a stomach cramp. When Beth saw his right arm go up into the air and then her boyfriend go under, she thought he was playing another one of& his many tricks on her. Since meeting her, he’d always chided her for being so gullible. At first& she’d thought that he was only pretending to be drowning. When he didn’t surface for a while, she grew panicky and screamed for help.
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  The family of Dwight St. Davids was having a picnic nearby along the shores of the lake. Beth screamed to them to rescue Roosevelt. Their youngest son, Peter, was home for the holidays from Princeton. Sensing what was wrong, Peter, an expert swimmer, dived into the cold lake and swam toward Roosevelt. Peter went underwater and emerged with Roosevelt gasping for air. Peter brought the body ashore and called for his other family members to help him carry the body to the nearby Bogart home.


  When Dr. Belmont Bogart came out onto his front verandah, he encountered what he thought was a dead victim of drowning. He rushed to give the young man medical attention.


  The commotion attracted the rest of the Bogart family. Hump, Maud, and the two daughters, Catherine and Frances, also came out onto the porch. They looked in horror as Belmont seemingly brought life back to the victim. When young Roosevelt was breathing properly once again, Belmont ordered that he be taken upstairs and put in Hump’s bed.


  Laid to rest on the soft bed upstairs, Roosevelt fell into a deep coma-like sleep. Belmont ordered Hump to stay in the room with the recovering victim in case he should experience a turn for the worse. “Make sure that he’s breathing all right,” Belmont said before heading downstairs to join Maud.


  Hump resented spending the rest of the afternoon and evening guarding Roosevelt. A surly Irish maid arrived with a tray of food for his supper. She plopped down the tray telling him, “Eat it if you don’t want to starve.”


  “I don’t like turnips,” Hump protested.


  “Then throw the bloody things out the window,” the maid said before going out and slamming the door.


  With those turnips still uneaten on his plate, Hump had fallen asleep somewhere during the middle of the night. Before nodding off, he’d checked on Roosevelt. The young man was snoring loudly.


  The following morning, it had been Roosevelt who awakened Hump. The doctor and Maud had departed on a shopping expedition, and had left Hump to have breakfast alone with Roosevelt after the doctor had examined him and had pronounced him fit.


  Roosevelt appeared to be in his late twenties or even early thirties. It had been over the breakfast table where Hump finally got his favorite dish—ham and eggs—that he’d begun to learn who their mysterious guest was.


  Even though innocent at the time, Hump soon realized that Roosevelt, who had quickly become “Franklin” to him, was not supposed to be at Seneca Point but had told his wife, Eleanor, that he was in Philadelphia on business. “Being an attorney allows me to go out of town on occasion,” Franklin said,& “and seize the opportunity.”


  “Are you related to Theodore Roosevelt?” Hump asked.


  “Actually, he’s my fifth cousin,” Roosevelt said, “but we’re not particularly close. In fact, I married one of my cousins, Eleanor. A fine woman but a bit plain. Perhaps you’ll meet her one day. If you do, please keep my visit to Seneca Point a secret.”


  Hump promised that he would.


  After thanking Hump for the hospitality and leaving a note for Dr. Bogart, whom he claimed “saved my life,” Franklin departed, planning to return to New York City. He told Hump he was heading for Washington, where he was going to become Assistant Secretary of the Navy. “Cousin Theodore held that post before moving on to become governor of New York and later president of the United States. Who knows? I might follow his trail.” Before leaving, Franklin said, “Since we share a dark secret, young man, I want to invite you to come and visit me in Washington when you grow up a bit more. Washington may not have as many beautiful young girls as Seneca Point, but I’m sure to find a suitable debutante for you.”


  “That’s a promise I’ll hold you to,” Hump said before shaking the young politician’s hand.


  “This is not good-bye,” Franklin said. “It’s just a temporary farewell until we meet again. Hopefully, under far better circumstances.”


  The strange visit of Franklin Roosevelt to Seneca Point had been the highlight of Hump’s summer there. Otherwise, he found the days long, lazy, and slow. He craved action and wasn’t getting any excitement from anywhere except from books. He loved to read.


  Back in his upstairs bedroom following a big lunch, he felt bloated. He liked to lie down after eating to digest his food.
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  Maud always preferred to go with his father to sit on their large front verandah overlooking the lake. Over the lunch table, Hump had gotten mad at the mean family cook. Although the meal had consisted of two roasts, and a selection of seven fresh vegetables from the field, there was no ham& on the table. He always complained when he saw no ham.


  Going downstairs for a glass of cold water, Hump looked out through the French doors onto the porch where his parents were resting in a large swing. He wondered if he’d ever grow to be as tall as his father, all six feet of him with shoulders so broad he could have been a football player. Even on the hottest days, Belmont never appeared outside the house unless he was dressed in a heavy suit of dark blue wool along with a white shirt and a stiff collar. He always ordered the maid to “make my collars extra stiff.”


  Almost as tall as her husband, Maud was an Edwardian beauty. She invariably wore only mauve, lavender, or gray—mostly graceful silks that seemed to flow in the wind, or else heavily starched cotton dresses that were immaculately tailored. She had thirty pairs of high-heeled, high-button shoes, always with a lavender ribbon. The tiny shoes were like those of a little girl’s. Almost daily, Maud commented on her size two and a half feet. “They’re so tiny I don’t know how they carry me around. Some six-year-old girls have feet larger than mine.”


  Remarks such as that always brought a compliment from Belmont. “In China I hear they bind women’s feet to make them as small, tender, and beautiful as yours. I don’t dare get you near a Chinaman because he’d kidnap you for his harem and make love to your feet all night.”


  Returning with his cold water to take upstairs, where he was reading Joseph Conrad’s The Nigger of the Narcissus, Hump paused once again to look out at the bucolic scene of his parents sitting in the swing on their verandah on this perfect summer day.


  From his black leather satchel, Belmont removed a syringe. Maud was wearing a long-sleeved dress in soft tones of mauve with gray accessories. She unbuttoned the pearl buttons on her left arm and rolled up her sleeve. With his wife’s forearm exposed in all its porcelain beauty, Belmont very gently inserted a needle into her arm. She closed her eyes and leaned back in the swing as if enjoying a respite from the hot summer afternoon by a cooling breeze blowing in from the lake.


  After having injected his wife, Belmont removed his jacket and rolled up the sleeve of his white shirt. He then injected the needle into his own arm.


  Hump had seen enough. He didn’t know exactly what was happening, only that his parents were injecting morphine into their arms. Morphine, he’d heard, was to be injected only into sick people. His parents weren’t sick. They’d never looked better and healthier.


  Placing the glass of water on a nearby antique, Hump quietly tiptoed upstairs. He didn’t want his parents to know he’d been spying on them in a secret moment.


  Back in his bedroom, he was deeply disturbed by that scene he’d just witnessed on the porch. He picked up his book and tried to resume reading it on his bed.


  Somehow he knew that what his father was doing was not right, but he didn’t exactly understand why it was wrong. From the safety of his bedroom, he tried to think this out rationally. His father was a surgeon and a leading heart and lung specialist, earning $20,000 a year, so Hump figured his father must have a valid reason to shoot morphine into himself and into Maud.


  An awful reality dawned. His parents weren’t healthy at all. They were sick and that’s why they needed the morphine, perhaps to prevent some incurable illness.


  He dropped his Conrad book to the floor and sat up in his bed. This idyllic summer home, and their grand life in New York City would surely come to an end if his parents died. Who would raise him and his sisters?


  A paralyzing fear swept over him. He had to find out what was the matter with them.


  His world as he’d known it was now in jeopardy.


  ***


  Two days after Hump had seen his father shooting morphine into his mother’s arm and his own arm, he went to Maud’s studio and knocked on her door. When working, she’d left instructions not to disturb her for any reason, “even if someone is dying.” Showing her displeasure, she threw open the door. “What is it?”


  “I saw the needles going into your arms,” he blurted out.


  She pulled him inside. “You’re to tell no one, especially your sisters. Certainly none of the neighbors.”


  “If you’re sick, I want to know,” he protested.


  Very patiently Maud sat him down and told him that three years before he was born, his father had been in a dreadful accident after he’d earned his degree at Columbia University’s College of Physicians and Surgeons.


  “Your father was an intern being driven in a horse-drawn ambulance going at top speed. The vehicle accidentally overturned when it hit an enormous pothole. Belmont fell out of the ambulance onto the cobblestones. The ambulance turned over on him, breaking five of his ribs and his left leg. The leg was not set properly. It had to be broken again and reset by more competent surgeons. Ever since that day, your father’s health has declined, and he constantly suffers unbearable pain. He doesn’t want you children to know the extent of his pain. He puts up a brave front for all of us.”


  “I’m sorry to hear that,” Hump said. “That tells me a lot about father. But what’s the matter with you? Why do you need morphine?”


  “I don’t suffer as much as Belmont does, but I have this skin disease. The words won’t mean anything to you. It’s called erysipelas, a streptococcal inflammation. That means fiery hot, red skin that burns me so badly at times it’s like putting my skin on a hot stove. Sometimes when I’m in here retreating from the world, it’s because I can’t show my face. Either my left or right eye will close completely. A whole side of my face will burst into flames. The condition will even spread to my breasts. Morphine is the only thing to cure it. Belmont thinks that the condition is so severe, the pain so unbearable, that I will be driven crazy if I don’t take drugs.”


  “But won’t morphine turn you and father into drug addicts?”
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  Enraged, Maud grabbed the back of Hump’s stiff shirt and ushered him toward the door. As he stepped into the hallway, she said, “Don’t you ever come into my studio again.” She slammed the door in his face.


  Humiliated, Hump rushed down the hall, colliding into one of the Irish maids, Jane Byrne, “Watch where in the hell you’re going, you little shit,” she cried out at him. She used the word “shit” all the time.


  All the servants called him “the little shit,” never Humphrey. It was “the little shit” this, or “the little shit” that. For the rest of his life, Hump would refuse to allow the word “shit” to be uttered in his presence.


  He didn’t understand why Maud always recruited from the lowest class of Irish servants, each of whom received $3.50 a week in pay. They had vile tempers, horrible manners, and terrible language. Without provocation, a servant would suddenly strike either him or one of his sisters. Complaints about the behavior of the staff to his parents went unheeded. They didn’t seem to care.


  When Hump had told Maud that the male servant, Liam Mangam, had taken off his leather belt and had beaten him severely, she’d said, “I’m sure he wouldn’t have done that if you’d been behaving properly.”


  After Maud had ushered him from her studio, Hump wanted to run away or at least escape from their summer house for the rest of the day.


  He stood in the living room, not certain where to go. Over the fireplace mantle Maud had hung a baby picture he hated. It was an idealized portrait she’d painted of him in 1900 when he was only one year old.


  Known as the “Maud Humphrey Baby,” the portrait had been reproduced across the country, becoming the most famous baby picture in the nation. It later appeared on the label of the best-selling brand of baby food of its day, Mellins Baby Food.


  Later in life, the man then known as “Bogie” would say, “There was a period in American history when you couldn’t pick up a God damn magazine without seeing my cute little kisser in it.”


  Maud was a true Victorian illustrator, who believed that babies should be cherubic, their faces round, their cheeks evoking chipmunks. If they also had ruby-red lips, a long white starched dress, curly blond ringlets, large trusting eyes, and a frilly collar, so much the better.


  On a wall overlooking the dining room table hung another Maud portrait of him when he was two years old. He was as chubby cheeked as ever but his slickly combed hair was revealed, no more baby bonnet. He looked like Little Lord Fauntleroy in side-buttoned overalls with rolled-up cuffs and a billowing white shirt, again stiffly starched.


  Hump was determined that, if not today, maybe tomorrow, he was going to grow up to be a man and not some powder puff.



  ***


  Later, on the same day he’d been banished from Maud’s summer studio, Hump wandered alone around the tranquil lake. Except for the turmoil going on in his own home, the setting looked like the fantasy life his Dutch ancestors had sought when they’d come over to help settle New York.


  Hump always felt that it could be a dreamy life for all of the Bogarts if only his parents were different. They were cold and distant and never gave him the love he needed, not even a kiss on the cheek or a warm embrace.


  Even though they were his parents, Hump didn’t know all that much about them, since they rarely mentioned their own childhoods. Both parents traced their lineage to Europe as far back as the early 16th century. Members of royalty were included among both Dr. Bogart’s ancestors and those of Maud.


  Decades later, one royal link would be leaked to the press. It was reported at the wedding of Lady Diana Spencer to Britain’s Prince Charles, that his new princess was the seventh cousin of Humphrey Bogart on his mother’s side.


  Dr. Bogart’s father, Adam Watkins Bogart, had run an inn for summer visitors to the Finger Lakes. Arriving from Holland in the 17th century, his family had farmed in Brooklyn, which until the 20th century had a “Bogart Avenue” in their memory. In 1853 the family moved to the Finger Lakes.


  At Canandaigua, Adam had run a tough tavern, with a jailhouse in the basement. It was called Franklin House, and it was the only inn in Canandaigua, attracting men who smoked cheap stogies and wore muddy boots reeking of manure.


  The woman he’d married, Julia, was considerably better off financially than Adam. After marriage, he moved with her to Jefferson House in the village of Watkins on Lake Seneca. There they ran a small three-story hotel with more than a dozen rooms to rent. It was here they gave birth to their first born, pretentiously naming him Cornelius Edward Bogart. Cornelius was killed at the age of six when he attempted to slide down the banister of stairs that led into the lobby of Jefferson House. He fell on his head on the black and white checkerboard Tuscan tile and died instantly.


  Their second son, Belmont DeForest Bogart, was born in 1866, a year after the death of his brother. Julia was to live only two years after the birth of her second son. She developed a “mysterious” illness and lay in bed for five months, suffering. In her will, she left all her money to Belmont, and none to her husband, Adam.


  In 1871, Adam sued her estate, eventually winning control of the money and his son. Julia had asked that Belmont be taken away from his father and placed in the care of either of her sisters.


  After her death, Adam never remarried. Using Julia’s money, he grew rich when he created a method of lithographing on tin plates, a technique later used extensively in advertisements.


  Maud had been born about a year before her husband on March 30, 1865, the daughter of a rich shoe manufacturer, John Perkins Humphrey, in Rochester, New York.


  Her family was wealthy enough to finance her artistic career, sending her to the Art Students’ League in New York from 1886 to 1894 and later to the Académie Julian in Paris where she’d studied with James McNeill Whistler. There were rumors that she’d had an affair with the fabled American painter, who was in his 50s when he first met Maud. Throughout her life, Maud never confirmed nor denied the rumor, saying, “It’s for damn sure I didn’t pose for Whistler’s Mother.”


  It was in Paris that she’d painted her first nude. The model was the well-built former prizefighter, Rodolphe Julian, who frequently modeled in the nude at the Académie he’d founded. Some of the art students jokingly said that Rodolphe had founded the art school only so he could “show off his ample assets” before the art classes, as he’d often confess that he himself “knew nothing about art. I know what I like—and that’s that.”


  Even though aging when Maud had met him, Rodolphe still kept his body as neat and trim as that of an Olympic athlete. In those days, only male artists were allowed to paint male nudes. Most art schools didn’t even encourage female painters and, if they allowed them entrance, did not let them paint nude models either male or female.


  At his Académie, Rodolphe changed all that. It was said that many young women signed up for his classes just to see what a man looked like in the nude. Many women at the time saw a naked man for the first time on their wedding night, with virtually no prior knowledge of the male anatomy.


  “After looking at Rodolphe, and painting him, it’s probably inevitable that we’ll be disappointed with our husbands,” Maud confided to a fellow art student, Mary Fielding, from Charleston, South Carolina.


  Maud was known for her razor-tongued wit, and she found a perfect match in the equally sharp-tongued Belmont. Each could take the other down with biting sarcasm. Both of them passed this dubious characteristic onto their son, Humphrey.


  Bogie’s future director, John Huston, said the actor was known throughout his life for needling people, or “sticking in the saber,” as Huston put it.


  What his parents didn’t pass on to their son was their political conservatism. Belmont was a Republican and a Presbyterian, Maud a Tory and an Episcopalian. Humphrey would grow up to become a liberal Democrat.


  Born on Christmas Day, 1899, “a Christmas gift to his parents,” as later reported by publicists at Warner Brothers, Humphrey DeForest Bogart came into the world at Sloane’s Hospital in New York, weighing eight pounds and seven ounces. He’d been born six days before the end of the 19th century, and in later life always referred to himself as a “man of the last century.”


  He’d had an elongated foreskin, and his doctor father had recommended circumcision. Maud had been adamantly opposed, claiming that “was a barbaric Jewish custom.”


  Until he’d gone into the Navy at the end of World War I, Humphrey had lived with this extended foreskin. After his military service, when he ran into his former classmate, Doug Storer, at a tavern, he confided, “I had a doctor trim it a bit, but he left enough for me to still have fun.”


  Belmont himself in 1901 delivered his second child, a girl named Frances Bogart. Because she was chubby as an infant, Hump nicknamed her “Fat.” When she grew up and lost her excess weight, she was called Pat. Two years later, another sister, Catherine, was born.


  In his early years Maud and Belmont had big plans and high hopes for Hump. Belmont, dining at Luchow’s, his favorite German restaurant on 14th Street in New York, boasted that his adolescent son would one day go to Yale and become a world-famous surgeon. “My wife says Columbia, but I definitely see the boy as a Yale man.”


  Hump’s one and only attempt at performing surgery had ended in disaster when he’d attempted it when he was eight years old. His sister Catherine had developed a large boil with a pus-filled head. She begged her brother to puncture it, since Belmont was away on a hunting trip. Retrieving his father’s first-aid kit, with its scalpel, needles, and cotton, he attempted to lance the boil with a needle. When it didn’t work, he used his pocket knife. Immediately, a mixture of pus and blood shot with high velocity into his face. His screaming sister had to be rushed to the nearest hospital before she bled to death.


  One afternoon, about a month later, Hump found Maud terribly depressed, revealing that she’d learned some “very bad news.” She told him that she’d visited an itinerant fortune teller who was passing through the Finger Lakes that summer. “Your son will grow up to enjoy fabulous wealth and will know many loves,” the gypsy had told her. “But both of your daughters are destined for tragic lives.”



  ***


  Hump was heartbroken to learn that Maud and Belmont had placed Willow Brook up for sale in August of 1913. If a buyer could be found, their summer home and their days at the lake would be over. Maud promised the children a summer cottage on Fire Island for the coming year.


  She’d taken a position as an illustrator on the magazine, Delineator, and needed to be close to New York City, the magazine’s base of operations. “The pay is fabulous,” she told Hump. “Fifty-thousand dollars a year.”
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  Walking down by the lake, Hump recalled his happiest times here when Belmont took him sailing on his champion yacht, Comrade. It was on that very lake that Belmont had taught Hump how to sail, a passion his son would enjoy until the day of his death.


  In time, Belmont purchased a one-cylinder motor boat, which Hump had called Desire, and he went out, putt-putting around the lake all by himself. In later life, Bogie would tell friends that sailing on the lake by himself was “the only time in my life I’ve ever felt free.”


  His sister, Pat, later told friends that her brother went through a typical adolescent period when he developed crushes on males. “It was just a period,” Pat said, “and in no time at all he grew out of it. He certainly didn’t grow up to be a homosexual, as many of his leading ladies can testify.”



  That summer Hump made Belmont the focus of his attention. Belmont was tall and good looking, a strong man and avid hunter, a real outdoors type, everything that Hump wanted to be, but wasn’t. When his father would invite him sailing, Hump was thrilled to have Belmont to himself and not have to share him with family or patients.


  But after Belmont met his neighbor, Mrs. Harry Lansing, he no longer invited Hump sailing. Although a bit hefty, Mrs. Lansing was extremely beautiful to Belmont. He pursued the married woman when Maud wasn’t present. Her husband, Harry, the son of a railroad tycoon, was never at home. Rumors were that he was an alcoholic. When not drinking, he was said to chase after other women.


  Sometimes Belmont would announce to his family that he was taking Hump sailing with him. But when they got to the lake, Mrs. Lansing would be waiting for the doctor. Belmont always gave Hump money to spend in town while he sailed away with Mrs. Lansing.


  Out there alone on the lake, Belmont was surely making love to Mrs. Lansing, or so Hump suspected. They’d be gone for hours. Instead of going to town, Hump would often wait for him beside the pier, no matter how long it took.


  Perhaps Maud learned that summer of her husband’s affair, or maybe she didn’t. All Hump knew was that during those final days on the lake, before they returned to the city, Maud moved out of the master bedroom she shared with her husband and took a smaller bedroom on the top floor.


  “I’m still going to be married to your father,” she told Hump, “but one phase of our relationship is definitely over. You’ll have no more brothers or sisters.”
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  That bitter rejection by his father was eased when Hump was introduced to Mrs. Lansing’s daughter, Grace. Hump felt that she was the most beautiful girl he’d ever seen, even more stunning than Franklin Roosevelt’s young mistress.


  They’d met when Mary Hamlin had organized the resort’s young people into the Seneca Point Players. Over his protests, she’d named Hump the producer and director and had cast& him as the lead in the players’ first production, Sunset in the Old West. Mary had cast the Lansing daughter, Grace, as Hump’s romantic female lead.


  Before leaving for Seneca Point that summer, Hump had met a patient of his father’s, William Brady Sr., a handsome showman and promoter and the son of Irish immigrants. Living next door, Brady had called on Belmont, claiming that “my cook has given me ptomaine poisoning.”


  Hump had also been in his father’s office that day, and had found Brady a fascinating man. He regaled Hump with stories of his former life when he’d gone from shoeshine boy to newsboy, from stage manager to actor, and from comedian to play director. “Now I’m a producer,” Brady said. “I also manage boxers, none of whom know how to throw a punch. That is, except for two winners, both heavyweight title holders, Jim Corbett and Jim Jeffries. I have luck with boxers named Jim.”


  Before Brady had been called into Belmont’s office, the producer turned to Hump. “I have a son about your age, William Brady Jr. I’ll introduce you to him. I’m sure you’ll hit it off real swell.”


  Hump had to go to Seneca Point for the summer, but he eagerly looked forward to seeing young Brady when he came back to New York. Hump was in dire need of a male best friend.


  When Brady Sr. learned that a local theater troupe was being formed at Seneca Point, he sent some discarded Broadway costumes to the Bogart family. Brady had just closed down a show on Broadway, The Girl of the Golden West, and he had plenty of outfits to spare, including chaps, boots, and western garb.


  Hump tried on a ten-gallon hat that practically drowned his head, but he wore it in his first play anyway. He played the star, a role that depicted him as a “good man gone wrong.” He’d become a gun-slinging bandit—that is, until he met the heroine of the play who “sets him on the straight and narrow path once again.”


  Grace, the female lead, won his heart in the play and also won his heart in real life. The audience around the bandstand peacefully watched this farce. They’d paid five cents each for tickets, plus another one penny for a glass of cold lemonade.


  Throughout the rehearsals, thoughts of Grace had consumed Hump. The day after the play closed, he bribed one of the Irish maids to pack a picnic lunch for him. He’d invited Grace to go hiking in the nearby woods, and she’d accepted.


  After their picnic on a blanket, he leaned over and kissed her. Decades later, Grace said she kissed him back, even though she’d never let a boy kiss her before. “He was handsome and charming, and I genuinely liked him. But he got carried away when I kissed him. He wanted to go farther.”


  As a summer rain fell across the meadow, Hump jumped up and begged her to strip off her clothing with him. Even though she remained fully dressed, he pulled off his trousers, shirts, and underwear and danced around her in the nude, urging her to take off her clothes too. “I’d never seen a boy’s penis before,” Grace said, much less one erect, and I was terrified. I started running across the slippery meadow heading for home, leaving him standing nude with his erection on the wet blanket.”


  He later told his friend, Peter St. Davids, “I’m not much of a lover, I guess.& I got the gal at the end of that stupid play, but not in real life.”


  Later when Grace Lansing had become Mrs. Gerald Lambert of Princeton, New Jersey and Palm Beach, Florida, she became friends with Bogie’s first wife, Helen Menken, telling her of that summer on the lake with Humphrey. “I always regretted we didn’t fool around that day,” Grace said, “especially when he became a world famous screen actor. I could have claimed to be Humphrey Bogart’s first love. But, alas, it was not to be.”



  ***


  With no buyer was found for Willow Brook, the Bogarts returned to New York City, where Belmont resumed his practice, and Maud took up her job as an illustrator for the magazine, Delineator, a position she would hold for twenty years. The sole purpose of the magazine was to sell dress-sewing patterns manufactured by its parent company, the Butterick Pattern Company, in an era when many women sewed their own clothing at home.


  The magazine was one of the first to publish pictures of females in nightgowns, bathing suits, and underwear. Mainly, it featured women appearing in fashionable clothing. Its backers hoped that America’s women readers would fall in love with the illustration, then go out and purchase the Butterick dress pattern.


  In spite of its focus on sewing patterns, the magazine also had pages devoted to serious fiction. Its editor was the novelist Theodore Dreiser, who printed pieces by such famous journalists as H.L. Mencken. Maud was especially proud of the magazine because it published articles about her favorite cause, women’s suffrage.


  One afternoon, Hump’s mother invited her boss, Theodore Dreiser, and the famously caustic visiting writer from Baltimore, H.L. Mencken, back to her townhouse for afternoon tea. Both men were ostensibly there to meet the “Maud Humphrey baby,” even though Hump was a growing adolescent at that time.


  The Bogart sisters were not at home. Hump dressed himself formally, as requested by Maud. He eagerly awaited his introduction to both men, even though he wasn’t quite sure who they were. Maud had talked at length about their status as “literary lions.”


  Dreiser was the first to enter the house, firmly shaking Hump’s hand. “My, oh my,” he said, “how that baby did grow. They’re still publishing Maud’s portrait of you as an adorable baby, though. You’re easily as famous as the Arrow Collar Man or the Schweppes Commander.”


  Dreiser had not yet written his masterpiece, An American Tragedy which wasn’t penned until 1925, but Sister Carrie, written in 1900 when Hump was one year old, had already been broadly distributed throughout the country. Dreiser had brought an autographed copy as a gift for the boy. “Maud claims you read one novel a week. Try mine. I must warn you, though. Even my publisher tried to suppress this book.”


  With perfect manners, Hump accepted it with genuine gratitude. It would be the first of many autographed books that writers would present to him as tokens of their esteem. They’d eventually include men as diverse as Ernest Hemingway and Truman Capote.


  At that point, H.L. Mencken arrived, with Maud on his arm, both of them having overheard the friendly exchange between Hump and Dreiser. Bombastically turning to Dreiser, Mencken said, “Your publisher didn’t want to suppress Sister Carrie because it was racy; he wanted to suppress it because its style is so weak. There are lines in that novel that simply don’t work, like ‘he worked in a truly swell saloon.’ Calling a saloon ‘truly swell’ sounds inarticulate and unsavvy, and sometimes I wonder how you got away with it. I could go on and on, citing other examples.”


  Averting his gaze from Dreiser’s angry eyes, Mencken extended his hand to Hump. “Hello, I’m H. L. Mencken.” Hump stammered his hellos.


  Ignoring Mencken, Dreiser returned to his dialogue with Hump. “Please overlook the occasional unevenness in my style. I’m interested in bigger game, especially the expression of broader ideas. I write as a means of proving that history does not dominate a man, but that it’s actually an expression of mankind at its most creative. It is man who creates history, not history that creates men.”
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  Taking off his coat, Mencken acerbically shot back. “Is that what we do?” he asked Dreiser. He turned back to Hump. “Be careful—reading Sister Carrie will stunt your growth.”


  Smiling grimly at the insults, but holding his tongue, Dreiser got up, supposedly to pee. Maud showed him down the corridor to the toilet. Mencken sat down next to Hump on the sofa. “It was my reading of Huckleberry Finn at the age of nine that changed my life. It was, in fact, the most stupendous awakening of my entire life. It turned me into a bookworm and eventually a writer. Do you want to be a writer?”


  “Father wants me to study medicine and follow in his footsteps.”


  “Become anything but a shyster lawyer,” Mencken said. “I detest lawyers, especially Jewish lawyers. They are the worst.”


  Hump silently noted that Mencken shared Maud’s anti-Semitism.


  “After you’ve read the important books, go out and learn from life itself, taking all the worldly wisdom you can glean from the saloon keeper, the cop on the block, even the midwife, or especially the midwife if she performs a few abortions on the side. I figured being a newspaper reporter was the best way to meet people from all walks of life. After my first story, a five-line report about a horse thief, was published in the Baltimore Morning Herald, I was committed to journalism from that day forward.”


  At that point, Maud came back into the living room with Dreiser, who looked over at Mencken. “Why don’t you move to New York and leave that hick town of Baltimore behind you?”


  “New York is but a third-rate Babylon,” Mencken said. “I prefer the frowzier charms of Baltimore. Even that immense protein factory known as Chesapeake Bay.”


  Dreiser had to excuse himself again to go up to Maud’s studio to look over some of her latest sketches.


  Humphrey chose that moment to invite Mencken up on the roof to look at his pigeon coop. “Maud finds these birds disgusting and unsanitary. When I came down with pneumonia, she blamed the pigeons.”


  Mencken didn’t much like pigeons either. But he was entranced with the view of the New York skyline from the Bogart roof. The bracing air delighted him, and seemed to spark some crazed ambition within him. Hump suspected that he’d had a few whiskies before arriving at the Bogart house.


  Mencken waved his arms in the air and seemed to be speaking to the world at large, and not specifically to Hump. “I want to be the native American Voltaire,” Mencken said. “I see myself as the enemy of all Puritans.& I will become a heretic within academia—a one-man demolition crew of Victorian morality.”


  Later, Maud called them for tea in her little garden in back, although Hump suspected that both of these men would have preferred whiskey.


  Over tea, Mencken continued to lecture Dreiser, albeit more diplomatically. “There is only one way to make money publishing books. You can write about only four subjects. First, murder stories. Second, novels in which the beautiful heroine is forcibly overcome by the handsome hero. Third, books about spiritualism, occultism and such claptrap. Fourth, any book devoted to Abraham Lincoln.”


  “Speaking of Lincoln,” Dreiser said, “Someone recently submitted an essay for publication in my magazine. It’s written by Theodore Ward, a historian, and based on extensive research. It’s an exposé of the sex life of Abraham Lincoln, but I fear I cannot publish it, although it’s a hell of an interesting article.”


  “Is it too controversial?” Maud asked.


  “That it is,” Dreiser said. “It maintains that Lincoln was a homosexual and had a five-year love affair with another man.”


  “I don’t think that article will ever be published,” Maud said.


  “Maybe in fifty years the public will be ready for it,” Mencken said.


  As Maud was pouring tea for Dreiser, a large butterfly flew from a flower bush, winging by her head. Dropping her tea pot, she screamed as if ten rapists had surrounded her. She ran into the living room and up the steps leading to her studio.


  Both Dreiser and Mencken looked to Hump for some explanation of this erratic behavior.


  “All her life she’s been terrified of butterflies,” Hump said.


  ***


  It wasn’t only Dreiser and Mencken who wanted to meet the Maud Humphrey Baby. The stigma of having posed for that illustration followed Hump throughout of his school days. He’d been mocked and ridiculed when he’d entered Delancy School, which he’d attended to the fifth grade. He still hadn’t shaken the curse when, at the age of thirteen, he enrolled in Trinity School, which was housed in a sandstone building at 91st Street between Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues. An Episcopal institutional “for the training of young gentlemen,” it was the oldest continuously operating school in the country.


  Doug Storer, a classmate, recalled that virtually every day after school, a gang of bullies waited for Hump, calling him “sissy” or chanting, “rock-a-bye baby.”


  The confrontation sometimes led to Hump arriving home with a bloody lip and, on more than one occasion, a black eye.


  At school, Hump had turned out to be a poor student, excelling in nothing, and with particularly low marks in German. Since Belmont, a classically educated descendant of the original Dutch burghers of New York, spoke fluent German, he had demanded that his son learn the language too.


  Hump’s grades in other classes were almost as bad. As the months went by, it became apparent to Belmont and Maud that their son would not follow in his father’s footsteps as a surgeon.


  “He’ll be lucky if he graduates from high school,” Belmont told Maud. To compound matters, Hump developed scarlet fever and had to repeat the eleventh grade.


  Although Belmont had been a notable athlete, Hump did not willingly participate in organized sports unless he was forced to as part of the school curriculum. He told classmate Storer that he especially disliked wrestling. “I loathe such close contact with other guys. There’s one fucking guy who gets a hard-on every time he pins me down on the mat. I can feel the God damn thing pressing up against me.”


  Storer remembers that there was a debate among some of the girls over whether Hump was “handsome” or “just good looking.” His classmate recalls that, “His appearance was always neat. I never saw him when he wasn’t well-groomed. He had a slim figure with very dark eyes and jet-black hair that was always plastered down to his head with some kind of cream. He showed up every day in a dark blue wool serge suit with a vest and a stiffly starched white shirt with detachable collars held on by gold-plated brass buttons. His black shoes were always highly polished. His ties were never garish but always in some somber color like navy blue or berry brown, the stuff bankers wore at the time.”


  In winter he’d appear in a Chesterfield overcoat with a velvet collar.


  The author, Eric Hodgins, remembers that “Bogart always wore a black derby hat, rain or shine. It set him apart from the other boys. Many a time he would get that hat knocked off his head. But he always picked it up, dusted it off, put it back on his head, and went on his way.”


  Hump told Storer that he didn’t want to get out of bed sometimes, knowing that at three o’clock that afternoon a gang was waiting to taunt him. He was not a fighter and had never taken on one of the neighborhood toughs in combat. If Hump defended himself at all, it was to raise his hands to protect his face.


  One cold January afternoon, the toughest guy on the block plowed his steel-knuckled fist into Hump’s face, breaking his nose. He’d run all the way to his father’s office at 245 West 103rd Street. The office on the second floor of the family brownstone was covered in a thick moss green carpet with beautiful mahogany paneling rescued from a townhouse in Chelsea which had been demolished. It was one of the few houses in the neighborhood that had a telephone, a necessity because Hump’s father was a doctor. Belmont had tended to his son’s nose, making emergency repairs before taking him to the hospital. All the way to the clinic, Belmont had chided Hump for not defending himself better. “When I was your age, I could beat up any boy in my home-town. Maud’s making a sissy of you. I hate the name Humphrey she gave you. That’s a sissy name.”


  Even as Hump had moved into his teenage years, Maud had continued to dictate his dress. At formal school dances, she’d demanded that he wear white kid gloves and black patent leather pumps. “I was like a God damn teenage dandy,” Bogie later told his favorite director, John Huston.



  ***


  One afternoon Maud called her teenage son into her studio and revealed to him some of the male nudes that she’d painted in Paris. He was shocked because until then, he had known only her scenes of Victorian innocence.


  For reasons not known to him at the time, she’d tried to explain to him when male nudity was acceptable and when it was not.


  “When a man is nude and aroused, and is showing himself off, that is not acceptable,” she informed her son. “But when a man in a flaccid state is posing nude for an art class, that is acceptable. The men and women painting him have no actual interest in his sex. They view the body as a whole, as an object from which they can make an artistic statement. It’s the same when your father sees a nude man or woman in his office. He has them strip to examine them in detail. But as a doctor, he has the same disinterest in the nude body that an artist does while painting a nude in his studio. This is called sexless nudity.”


  After that rather detailed and pedantic explanation, Maud invited Hump to accompany her that afternoon to her art classes.


  At the Artists and Models Studio on Manhattan’s West 28th Street, Maud had been temporarily teaching classes to young illustrators who wanted to become working commercial artists like herself. Since she was widely known as a Victorian illustrator portraying an idealized fantasy life of home and hearth, she’d been an odd choice to teach classes with nude models, although her background in Paris had prepared her for such an assignment.


  When she arrived with Hump at the studio, she still hadn’t told him why he was here. It turned out that Maud had been filling in during a sick leave of Duane Edwards, the regular teacher. To an increasing degree, Maud had been leaving the house on mysterious errands. Hump had heard her talking over the phone several times with someone named “Duane,” and he’d suspected that Maud was having an affair now that she was no longer sleeping in the same bed with his father.


  In a back dressing room, Maud told her son, “Remember what I said about nude modeling. There is nothing about the nude male body that we have to be ashamed of. Our regular model is not here today. He’s just a young boy who models for classes. The class has painted mature models, both female and male, in the nude. This week we are painting young boys. I want you to model nude and fill in for our regular model who is sick.”


  Horrified at his mother’s suggestion, Hump wanted to bolt from the building. Except for a medical examination, he’d never pulled off his clothes before anyone, and certainly not in front of women. Since he had no real basis for comparisons, and hadn’t seen any pictures, he had not been certain just how he measured up with other boys his age.


  He’d always been curious about other male genitalia, but when he’d been at a latrine with other boys, he’d always looked away, afraid to be caught gazing at them. He’d feared that because of his reputation as a sissy, all he would need was to be spotted glancing at the genitals of other boys. He’d never showered with other boys and had never seen his father in the nude either.


  When he revolted at the idea of the posing session, Maud taunted him. “Don’t tell me you’re afraid to take off your clothes in front of artists. Are you ashamed of the way you’re developed? You don’t have to be.”


  As he looked at her, he began to think that he hated her. Defiantly, he began to peel off his clothes. Before he’d taken his trousers down, she turned and walked away.


  A school custodian came into his dressing room, finding Hump standing there looking pathetically naked. He handed him a white robe, telling him to wear it out into the studio. “When you go up on the platform in front of the class, drop your robe and sit naturally on the stool I put there.”
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  Years later, Bogie recalled how he’d come into the studio so embarrassed that he didn’t dare look at anybody. He was red-faced but he did as he was told and dropped his robe, going at once to a large stool in the center of the platform. There he had braced himself for a long sketching session, crossing his legs.


  The custodian came out and pried his legs apart, exposing Hump’s genitalia to the painters. His heart was beating so fiercely at that point& that Hump didn’t much care what happened next. His only thought was that Maud was there, along with the others, looking at her son in all his shame.


  As the artists painted, Hump tried to think of anything except what was actually happening in the studio.


  The session ended exactly at noon. Hump put on his robe and retreated to the rear where the custodian brought roast beef sandwiches for the artists. He’d offered one to Hump. Because he was hungry, he accepted, only wishing that it had been a ham sandwich.


  Maud remained in the studio evaluating the nude drawings of her son. At one o’clock, Hump was summoned back to the platform. The second time wasn’t as traumatic for him. He still refused to make eye contact with any of the painters in the room, not even knowing whether they were men or women.


  He was called back for a final session at three o’clock, and at exactly four o’clock, the day’s work ended.


  Fully dressed, he waited outside on the street for Maud. When she appeared, he was embarrassed to look into her face. “Now that wasn’t so bad,” she said. “You’re to come back with me four more days this week. The good news is that you’re going to get fifty dollars for your work. Imagine that. Fifty dollars, the most money you’ve ever seen at one time in your life.”


  She told him that he’d have to go home alone, as she had to visit a sick friend. She was obviously going to meet her new friend, Duane.


  Hump stood watching Maud go up the street to her next rendezvous. A militant suffragette, she passed out pamphlets as she made her way along the crowded boulevard, calling on passers-by to give the vote to the women of America.



  ***


  His parents’ names had appeared regularly in Dau’s New York Blue Book since 1907, but Belmont constantly attacked his wife for “trying to climb the social ladder.” The son of a saloon keeper, he couldn’t care less about the opinions of New York society.


  Every night at their New York home, their arguments were virtually the same. “When you’re not social climbing, you’re driven by your career like some God damn maniac,” he’d shout at her when drunk.


  Matching him drink for drink, Maud always stood up to him. She constantly reminded him that her profession brought in more than twice as much money as his did.


  She claimed that she was known among the very upper crust of New York society, and enjoyed a national reputation as an illustrator, whereas he “consorted with river rats.”


  Instead of accepting invitations into some of the finest homes of New York, Belmont preferred the company of saloon keepers, mechanics, janitors, and truck drivers. He’d frequent the taverns of blue-collar laborers, preferring those saloons along New York’s waterfront where he’d find “men of the sea.” If he’d had enough to drink, he’d invite sailors back to his home to spend a night or even a weekend.


  That had led to some of Maud’s most brutal fights with her husband. “These bums aren’t coming into my living room,” she’d shout at her husband in front of the Bogart children. She’d demand that the doctor take his newly acquired sailor friend up to the fourth-floor bedroom, which was usually assigned to a servant. “You can sleep up there with him,” she’d said. “Don’t come to my bed tonight.”


  That had seemed like a strange remark to Hump, because Belmont, at least to his knowledge, hadn’t entered Maud’s bed in years.


  She had also insisted that this “waterfront trash” eat in the kitchen with the Irish servants. To defy her, Belmont would also take his meals in the kitchen with the object of that evening’s fascination.


  Usually, a “river rat” would visit the Bogart home only once. Belmont’s interest in these uneducated specimens he would pick up rarely lasted more than two or three days.


  The exception had been a handsome, ruggedly masculine, and well-built “man of the sea,” Lars Schmidt. Depending on what day of the week you asked him, Lars claimed to be Norwegian, Swedish, or Danish, and during one particularly frank dialogue, German.


  Because he spoke six languages, had incredible good looks, and always dressed nicely, Maud had at first been attracted to his charm and personality. Even Hump had been fascinated with Lars. He’d entertain the boy with tales of all the shipwrecks he’d survived. The most fascinating adventure, as he’d related, was when his merchant ship had almost collided with another in the middle of the Atlantic. This ghost ship had seemingly come out of nowhere, appearing mysteriously in the fog.


  “It was definitely a Swedish man-of-war from the 17th century,” Lars had claimed. “Our crew could actually see seventeen sailors standing on deck as the ship passed us by. They were as lifelike as you are sitting across from me. We were awe struck as we watched the vessel drift away into the dawn. I’ve never seen anything like that before or since.”


  Whenever Lars came to the port of New York, he always arrived unannounced at the Bogart home. His parents’ explosion over Lars had come one hot, blistering August day as the entire city was melting under a record-breaking heat wave.


  It was so hot that when Lars had to walk outside his bedroom to go to the bathroom on the second floor, he’d wandered down the stairs stark naked. One of the Bogart daughters, Frances, had seen him nude in the hall and had run to her mother in her studio to report on this.


  Maud had been furious and had climbed to the top floor to see what was going on. The door to the bedroom where her husband had slept the night before with Lars was wide open. She’d looked inside and found Lars in the middle of the bed playing with himself. He’d invited her in to join him.


  She’d screamed and had run downstairs.


  That night when Belmont came home after a day’s work at the local hospital, she confronted him. “Lars is not a man,” she shouted in front of the children and the servants. “He’s a freak of nature. That is no penis that belongs on a man. A horse maybe. Frances will be ruined for life having seen such a thing. For all that poor girl knows, all men are built like that. Because of this, she’ll never marry, and if she does, she’ll be afraid to go to bed with her husband.”


  That night had led to a Bogart family drinking marathon and more violent arguments. Maud threatened that, “If Lars darkens this door again, I’m packing up, moving out, and taking the children with me.”


  Despite the enormous pressure, that drunken night didn’t end Belmont’s friendship with Lars. Whenever the sailor came to New York, the doctor packed a suitcase and checked into the Hotel Marseilles with Lars. A then-fashionable address, it lay across the street from the Bogart home, which was at 245 West 103rd Street.


  Like any hotel, it operated like a world unto itself. The beer kings, the Rheingold brothers, called it home, as did Sara Delano Roosevelt, mother of Franklin.


  When Mrs. Roosevelt learned of Belmont’s rescue of her son during the nearly fatal drowning incident at the lake, she sent a servant across the street with an invitation for Dr. and Mrs. Bogart and their young son, Humphrey. She may not have known about the existence of the two Bogart sisters.


  As Maud rarely accepted any social invitation and attended almost no parties, she tore up the invitation without telling her husband. Maud was offended by the politics of Theodore Roosevelt and didn’t want to seek any more intimate contact with the Roosevelts after she’d reluctantly sheltered Franklin for one night at her summer home.


  When Lars had some time off from sailing, he would go with Belmont on a train to Canada. Up there at an address never revealed to his family, the doctor and Lars would stay at a rustic hunting lodge owned by Belmont. Sometimes for weeks at a time, Belmont would neglect his medical practice, coming back to New York only when his supply of morphine had run out.


  On one particularly long trip, Maud had talked to Hump. “There are men like your father who don’t have natural instincts. He’d rather be socializing with riff-raff than in a good clean bed with his own wife. We stay together but only for the sake of you children. In time you’ll understand what a loveless marriage is. Perhaps you’ll even have one or two of your own.”



  ***


  At one school dance during his early teen years, Hump asked Leonore Strunsky—nicknamed Lee—to be his date. It was the beginning of a friendship that would last for the rest of his life, because Lee in time would become famously married to another Bogie friend, the lyricist Ira Gershwin.


  At the dance, just before Lee excused herself to go to the ladies’ room, she’d asked for a glass of punch. While he was getting it for her, two older students in their senior year had deliberately bumped into Hump. “Still dressing like a girl?” one of them had taunted him.


  Instead of trying to defend himself, Hump had escaped and fled to his school locker. Once there, he’d removed the Daisy Air Rifle his father had given him six weeks before. Belmont was a superb wing shot, and he wanted to pass his skill on to his son.


  Running outside of the school hall, he’d taken the rifle and aimed it at all the red lanterns lighting up the night. He hit every one of them before the school custodian had found him, chasing him from the grounds.


  He’d later walked in Central Park arm in arm with Lee, rather proud of his accomplishment. He’d known he couldn’t take the boys on in combat, but in some way had felt he’d gotten revenge.


  On a bench in Central Park, they’d indulged in some heavy necking. Lee not only let him kiss her, but told him that, “It’ll feel much better if you stick your tongue in my mouth.”


  He’d done just that. She didn’t object when he reached inside her dress and felt the firmness of her breasts. But she did not let him do any exploring below her beltline. “That’s only for when we’re married,” Lee told him.


  When he’d gotten home, after kissing Lee good night, he felt like a real man.


  The moment he walked into the Bogart’s living room, he knew that something was wrong. His father was there waiting for him, and he’d been drinking heavily. Maybe the doctor had also been drugged.


  The principal from the school had already contacted Belmont about the lantern shoot-out. Coming up to his son, his father seemed to tower above his teenage boy.


  Without warning, Belmont delivered several chopping blows to his son’s face, loosening two front teeth and smashing his upper lip repeatedly until part of it was torn from the boy’s face.


  As he’d stood back, realizing the damage he’d done, the doctor seemed to sober up. Maud rushed into the room. Seeing her son, she screamed before turning to confront her husband. “You touch him again, and so help me God I’ll kill you.”


  When the male servant, Liam Mangam, came up from the rear, having been aroused from his bed with one of the Irish maids, Belmont ordered him to carry Hump upstairs to his office.


  Once there, the doctor sewed up his son’s lip, but he was too drunk to do an adequate job. He ordered Mangam to summon a cabbie to take them to the nearest hospital.


  In the aftermath of the injury, Hump’s upper lip never healed properly. As every close-up in nearly every movie house in the world later revealed, Bogie’s upper lip throughout his adult life bore the scar of that awful night. His lip was to remain partly paralyzed, giving him a slight lisp.


  After surgery on his lip for the second time in five hours, Hump had been told that he’d have to go to the family dentist in the morning to replace those two missing front teeth.


  The attending doctor at the hospital, John Kells, also gave the teenage boy a thorough physical examination. He recorded that he was 5 feet, 9 inches, weighed 110 pounds, had brown eyes, a fair complexion and light brown hair, his chest measuring 33 inches.


  Belmont reported to Kells that his son had had a severe case of the mumps two years ago and that they had “fallen.” That most often led to a temporary enlargement of the testicles, followed by a massive shrinkage to a withered pea.


  Dr. Kells examined Hump’s testicles, finding that he’d escaped from this curse relatively intact, although noting a swelling of the spermatic vein on the left side of the boy’s scrotum. Both doctors agreed that this was a “congenital condition” and would probably not affect Hump’s ability to father children at some point in the future.


  At midnight, Hump, accompanied by a chastised Belmont and Mangam, was released from the hospital to return to the dismal life at 103rd Street.


  During his first week home, Hump made one trip to the dentist, accompanied by one of the Irish maids. The dentist replaced Hump’s two front teeth. Hump insisted on having his teeth in place before “my best gal,” Lee Strunsky, came to visit him at the family brownstone.


  Having never had a girl friend before, Hump was excited when Lee called to tell him that she was coming over at three that afternoon.


  Maud ushered Lee upstairs to Hump’s bedroom, where he was convalescing. From the look on his mother’s face, Hump knew that Maud disapproved of this visit.


  It wasn’t until an hour later, after Lee had gone, that Maud stormed into his bedroom. “Don’t you ever invite that stinking little tramp into my house again,” she yelled at her son.


  “She’s a very respectable girl, and very nice,” Hump protested.


  “She’s a slimy Jew,” Maud charged. “I don’t want a son of mine going out with a Jewess. These money-changers are the anti-Christ. They have no appreciation of the finer things of life. They’re all about greed and chicanery. They are the bottom-feeders of life.”


  “Jews are just as good as anybody else,” Hump said. “No better, no worse.”


  “You’re a moronic fool if you think that,” Maud said, her temper flaring. “If you ever again invite a Jew into my house, boy or girl, I will personally shut the door in their face. Is that understood, young man?” She turned and left the room, leaving Hump in total bewilderment. Since he didn’t plan to give Lee up, he’d sneak away and see her in private.


  Maybe, when he finished school, he might even ask Lee to marry him. That would really piss off Maud.


  As Hump saw it, there was one major problem in their courtship. Lee wanted to wait until they were married before doing it.


  Hump decided the time for seduction was at hand. In the days ahead, he was going to figure out a way to charm the bloomers off that pretty girl.


  The way he saw it, a Jewish pussy could be just as hot as a Gentile one. Maybe even more so. Time would attest to the accuracy of that perception.



  ***


  In ways that anticipated the plots of some of the movies he’d eventually make in the 1930s for Warner Brothers, Hump did not get the girl in the final reel. He never knew exactly what happened to his budding relationship with Lee, but it ended almost as suddenly as it had begun.


  All Hump found out later was that Maud had placed a telephone call to Lee. He never knew what his mother had said to his young girl friend, but Lee never saw him until decades later, and he did not press her for the answer.


  He even went to her house, but a servant informed him that Lee was not at home, even though he suspected that she was upstairs hiding in her bedroom.


  He would meet Lee later in life as a political ally and friend. He always referred to her as “my first girl friend,” even in front of her husband, Ira Gershwin.


  A new friend had come into Hump’s life that made him forget all about Lee. William Brady Jr. was the son of the showman and promoter, William Brady Sr., whom Hump had met when this entrepreneur was a patient at his father’s office. Brady Sr. had promised an introduction to his son, who was Hump’s age, and in spite of the producer’s busy schedule, he remembered and set it up.


  The moment he arrived at the Brady house and met Bill Jr., Hump almost overnight transferred his crush on Belmont to Bill. Bill was a handsome, precocious young man, filled with facile charm and a manly grace. He’d grown up in a world of famous names in both boxing and the theater, and he had a sophistication that Hump envied.


  Many young girls were captivated by this dashing man, but once Bill met Hump Bill had no more time for the females in his life. The two young boys became fast friends. Soon after they met, they pledged loyalty to each other and a devoted friendship “for the rest of our lives.”
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  When Hump was finally invited into the Brady home for chocolate milk and cookies, he was dazzled by the opulence of the parlor. Although Maud decorated her house elegantly, it didn’t have the ostentation of the Brady home, which some guests had described as “a Victorian stage set.”


  Not only was Bill’s father famous, but so were his mother and step-sister. Hump was especially intrigued by Bill’s mother, Grace George, a bigtime star of her day who had appeared in many of her husband’s films or Broadway productions.


  A darling of Broadway’s theater critics, George had gone from triumph after theatrical triumph that included appearances in George Bernard Shaw’s Major Barbara, as well as Divorçons, The School for Scandal, and Kind Lady. She was also a major talent scout for her husband, encouraging him to offer breaks to such newcomers as Helen Hayes in What Every Woman Knows. She also picked out the then-relatively-unknown Douglas Fairbanks, Sr., from a cast of hopefuls, persuading her husband to cast him opposite her in Clothes, even though “he’s not good-looking.”


  The daughter from Brady’s first marriage,& born in 1892, was Alice Brady, a rising star in her own right. Seven years older than Hump, beautiful, and educated during a period of her life in a convent in New Jersey, she captivated Hump with her talent and charm. She had abandoned a budding career as a singer in grand opera, preferring instead a career as a Broadway actress. She had been appearing on Broadway since her debut as an ingénue in The Balkan Princess in 1911. Having made a name for herself in several Gilbert and Sullivan revivals, she had been in dozens of her father’s silent films shot for World, his film company. She’d first appeared on screen in 1914 in a flick called As Ye Sow. When Hump met her, she’d just filmed The Gilded Cage.


  The first time Hump appeared in her living room, Grace George was polite but distant, and soon excused herself to go and read a script sent over by her husband. Alice remained behind to have a cup of tea, but it quickly became obvious that she was not smitten with Bill’s young friend the way Hump seemed to be with her.


  As she recalled years later, “He was just too young for me when we first met. But when Humphrey came back from the Navy, he’d matured a lot. I became very interested in him despite the difference in our ages.”


  Brady Sr. always gave his son all the free passes he wanted to Broadway shows, both his own productions and those of his rivals. Bill’s father had dreams of becoming a theatrical producer as well known and successful as David Belasco.


  Paying a nickel fare, Hump and Bill rode to 42nd Street on the rickety Broadway trolley, headed for a vaudeville show at the Palace Theater. Hump had never been to a performance at a major Broadway theater before, and he was immediately captivated by the bright lights and bustle. The show they were headed for was noteworthy in that it included, on the same bill, both Sarah Bernhardt, the greatest dramatic actress of her day, and the comic actor, juggler, and drunk, W.C. Fields.


  Decades later, Mae West, co-starring with Fields in My Little Chickadee, and herself a Broadway star at the time of Hump’s introduction to the theater, dismissed the claim that “The Divine Sarah” and Fields appeared on the same bill. “I’m sure Madame Bernhardt has other things to do than appear on stage with a low-rent, drunken comedian,” West claimed. “If Fields thinks Bernhardt was there, he’d had too many drinks, as usual.”


  But despite Mae West’s denials, Bogie maintained through the rest of his life that he’d seen Bernhardt on the same playbill with Fields.


  When Bernhardt was rolled onto the stage in a wheelchair, Hump was shocked. He’d expected to see some tall and statuesque figure of glamour and intrigue. Instead he saw a pale and very frail hospital patient in her 70s, with frizzy red hair. In an accident in France, she’d slipped and had fallen, breaking her leg. Gangrene had set in, and her doctors had to amputate her leg. For her first U.S. performance, she had turned that tragedy into an advantage. Wearing a poilu (the uniform French soldiers wore at the time), she’d appeared in New York playing a French soldier who had lost a leg. She’d held a battered flag in her hand while standing unsupported on her still-remaining good leg. Hollow cheeked and colorless, she emphasized her deadly whiteness with a dense coat of chalk-colored poudre-de-riz on her face. Looking like a consumptive wraith, she evoked the mummy of an Egyptian Pharaoh.


  But when Bernhardt spoke lines from Dumas fils ’ La Dame aux Camélias, her beautiful voice radiated magic. Even from her wheelchair, she moved her body with the lashing grace of a panther.


  Spellbound, Hump sat with Bill throughout the performance in a state of rapture. At the end, Bernhardt received a standing ovation that lasted ten minutes. Of her voix d’or, the writer, Maurice Baring, rhapsodized, calling her sound, “A symphony of golden flutes and muted strings, a silver dawn lit by lambent lightnings, soft stars and a clear-cut crescent moon.”


  After that day, Hump became addicted to the theater the way an addict is to heroin. He couldn’t get enough of Broadway shows.


  Back home that night, Hump poured out his enthusiasm for the world of the Bradys and his love of the theater. Maud was not impressed. “Not only are they in show business, they are Jews.” Hump didn’t care.



  ***


  As days drifted into weeks, Bill Brady was becoming more possessive of Hump, who no longer planned his own life but allowed his best friend to do it for him. At plays or at the cinema, Bill took to holding Hump’s hand. Hump never objected to this and enjoyed the camaraderie. Even when Bill put his arm around him and walked along the streets of Manhattan or Brooklyn, Hump did not object. A lot of schoolboys in those days did that.


  The word “homosexual” was just coming into vogue in avant-garde circles, but in the minds of most people, if such a thing existed at all, it was never spoken about. Many indulgent parents, especially those as sophisticated as Belmont and Maud, assumed that a young boy went through periods of infatuation with another boy his own age. Even if extreme affection was displayed, it was taken for granted that this was just a “stage” a young man went through before meeting the girl of his dreams and settling down.


  In spite of the domestic horror surrounding the shooting incident at school, and the subsequent injury to his lip, Hump had not lost interest in his Daisy Air Rifle. Nor had it been taken away from him by his father. The future actor, who would one day become a famous icon in a trench coat carrying a gun, spent hours in his room dismantling his gun and reassembling it.


  He even carried it in the leg of his trousers and took it with him whenever he went with Bill to the theater. After a show let out, they would find nearly deserted streets where no cop could be seen, then shoot out the globes of gas lamps before scampering off into the darkness of an alleyway to hide if anyone tried to chase after them.


  One late summer afternoon, Hump tired of his air rifle and wanted something more lethal. Before going over to Bill’s house, Hump went into the basement of the Bogart home and removed a .22 caliber pistol from his father’s collection which he kept there.
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  Bill had been given tickets to see a performance that evening by Alla Nazimova. This Russian-born stage actress and silent film star was famous for her interpretations of works by the Norwegian playwright Henrik Ibsen. Hump was anxious to see her in the flesh, having read much press on her at Brady Sr.’s theatrical offices. It could not have been imagined by Hump at the time that he would one day live at the Garden of Allah in Hollywood which, as “the Garden of Alla,” had been Nazimova’s home before it was turned into a hotel and colony of bungalows.


  But it wasn’t a work by Ibsen that Nazimova was performing that night. She was starring in Bella Donna, a frothy lust-and-revenge melodrama. Hump would have preferred a more classical introduction to her repertoire. After all, this was the electrifying actress who had brought Chekhov and Stanislavsky to the American

  theater.


  Hump found the diminutive star “shatteringly powerful” and marveled at her “foreign sophistication.” This exotic actress would, in fact, pave the way for the likes of silent screen vamp Pola Negri and, in time, Greta Garbo and Marlene Dietrich. In just a few years Nazimova would& select Rudolph Valentino as her co-star in the film Camille before stealing his wife, the stunningly beautiful Natacha Rambova, as part of a well-publicized and notorious lesbian tryst.


  After seeing Bella Donna, Bill and Hump headed for a Broadway diner for a plate of ham and eggs for Hump and a hamburger for Bill. His friend told Hump, “Don’t go falling for Nazimova. She likes to have sex with women— not men.”


  This was the first knowledge Hump had of lesbianism, although he would in the 30s and 40s appear with more lesbian stars than any other leading male actor in Hollywood.


  He’d heard that boys fooled around together, and had late at night wondered if his own father might have some sort of “unnatural attachment” to the sailor riff-raff he brought to their home. Like Queen Victoria, he’d never given lesbianism a thought.


  Bill claimed that Nazimova had fallen in love with his mother, Grace George, and had ardently pursued her, sending her roses every day, even expensive gifts, until Nazimova had tired of Grace’s lack of response. By then, Nazimova had moved on, having fallen in love with another actress, Eva Le Gallienne.


  Later, Bill promised to invite Hump up to his bedroom where he claimed he would show him some “dirty French postcards” he’d stolen from his father’s files. Hump eagerly accepted that invitation. He’d never seen a picture of a man and a woman having sex together.


  After a snack, Bill asked Hump to go with him to Coney Island to ride the Ferris wheel. Later the boys planned to shoot out some more bright lights.


  On the fast-spinning wheel, something went wrong. The pistol Hump had concealed in his trousers blasted off. The bullet missed his chest, which could have killed him, but blasted into his right wrist. At first Bill thought that Hump was screaming at the thrill of the ride until Hump held up his wrist in agony as the blood gushed out.


  Nothing could be done until the end of the ride. Knowing they would have to seek help from the police, Bill took the gun from Hump and tossed it into the night.


  At the end of the ride, the manager saw that young Hump had been injured and immediately called the police. Hump, with Bill in attendance, was rushed to the hospital where a doctor discovered that it was a bullet wound. Until then, the police believed that somehow he’d been cut, perhaps by one of the moving parts on the Ferris wheel.


  Hump lied to the police and to the doctor, claiming that during the ride a sniper had shot at them, missing Bill but hitting him. The police bought that unlikely story.


  When the police drove Hump back home to Manhattan that night, Maud and Belmont were in the foyer waiting for him. After thanking the cops for their assistance, an angry Belmont didn’t strike his son in the face this time. What he did do was to forbid him to carry guns any more. He said that he’d gone to his son’s room and removed the beloved Daisy Air Rifle.


  “It’s time to ship you off to the Phillips Academy at Andover to prepare you for Yale,” Belmont said.


  “And I absolutely forbid you to see that Brady boy again,” Maud said. “You were a good boy until you took up with the likes of that Jew.”


  “I’ll go to the academy,” Hump said to his parents. “But there’s no way in hell I’ll give up my friendship with the Bradys.” He stormed upstairs to his bedroom, slamming the door behind him.



  ***


  With a bandaged wrist, Hump accepted Bill’s invitation to visit his bedroom at the Brady house to view a collection of pornographic French postcards. They had been collected by his father on a visit to Paris and smuggled through U.S. Customs, as was the way in those days of heavy censorship.


  Today, in an era when pre-adolescents routinely watch porno on television, it’s difficult to imagine the effect back then of a “dirty picture” on young boys at the height of their sexual potency.


  Hump was fascinated by the sepia-toned photographs, one showing a young man with a large erection standing up while two bare-breasted women kneeled to service him. Another depicted the same man bedding one of the women. Yet another pictured him plunging down on a woman in the act of cunnilingus.


  Bill became so excited by the pictures that he whipped out his penis and began masturbating, urging Hump to do the same. Reluctantly Hump pulled out his penis and he too masturbated to climax.


  After putting the postcards back into their folder, Bill asked Hump to kiss him since he hadn’t touched him during their sex together.


  Hump agreed, providing Bill would swear not to tell anybody. “It’s okay,” Bill told him. “I’ve done this to other guys. All the guys at school do it.”


  Hump kissed him back. As he was to recall years later to his friend, Truman Capote, “It wasn’t at all bad. It felt kinda nice. I didn’t think anybody in the world loved me at the time, and it was good to know that Bill did. At first I kissed him because I felt I owed him a favor. After we kissed, I liked it a lot. It was the beginning of many kisses we’d exchange over the years. Our relationship never developed much beyond that. Kissing and playing with each other was as far as I was willing to go. I knew Bill wanted to do some of the things in those pictures, but I could never bring myself to it. I loved the guy, though.”



  ***


  The marriage between Phillips Academy at Andover, Massachusetts, some twenty miles north of Boston, and Humphrey Bogart was doomed from the beginning, when he arrived there a week late for classes during an unseasonably cool September in 1917. Founded by Calvinists during the American Revolution, it was the finest prep school in the country. One of its stated purposes was to guard young men “against the first dawnings of depraved nature.”


  The Academy could name-drop like no other school, having historical ties with John Hancock, Paul Revere, John Adams (its fourth principal), George Washington (who gave an address there), and, in time, Judge Oliver Wendell Holmes and, much later, President George Bush Sr.


  Belmont had graduated with the class of 1888, having excelled in baseball and football. He’d written his former schoolmate, Alfred Stearns, now headmaster, asking him to admit his son in spite of his poor grades at Trinity.


  On the train to Andover, Hump read Stove at Yale, Owen Johnson’s popular novel which painted a romanticized version of what college life was really like. To Hump, the novel read like a saccharine-laced fantasy. He’d also bought a newspaper that morning, as he always read the front page news carefully. The United States had entered the war on the side of the Allies on April 6, 1917. Before leaving New York, Belmont had told him that many of the students at Andover, along with some faculty members, had temporarily resigned or left the Academy to join the forces on the Western Front in Europe, battling the Kaiser’s armies.


  Assigned a spartan-looking cell, Number Five, at Taylor Hall, Hump felt that his steel cot evoked a prison cell. Up to now, he’d lived in grand comfort.


  Next to Hump’s room was the bathroom, shared by twelve other young men on the floor. A previous occupant of Hump’s cell must have had an interest in boys taking a shower, because he’d carved a hole about the size of a baseball between Hump’s room and the shower.
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  Hump discovered that hole in the wall on his second day there when he went to remove the reproduction of an antique map of Massachusetts. Looking through the hole, he could have a perfect view of the genitalia of the young men showering. Fortunately, no one was in the shower room when he peeked in, or else he would have been embarrassed.


  Lonely and sad to be away from Bill and the bright lights of Broadway, the seventeen-year-old Hump found himself facing a Puritan regime that was launched at 7:30 every morning at chapel.


  Classes were boring and he wanted to drop out of Phillips Academy after the first semester until he met schoolmate Floyd Furlow, who also lived in Manhattan. The son of the president of Otis Elevator Company, Floyd was a fun-loving guy full of wicked humor.


  Although only eighteen years old at the time, Floyd claimed to have had ten affairs with women, three of whom were married to some of his father’s best friends. He also stashed away booze in his room and would invite his “favorites” on the floor to come and join him.


  Floyd and his friends seemed to know much about the world. All of them had been to Europe and one of them, Philip Burton, had once been taken to Africa on a safari with his father.


  Hump couldn’t match these adventures, as he’d never been taken even to Canada on one of Belmont’s hunting trips.


  Frederick Boyce, the stern headmaster of Hump’s dormitory, was also a physics teacher. With his white mop of hair, he stuck his eagle’s beak into everybody’s business. Boyce was known for raining hell and damnation onto anyone who violated house rules.


  With his wife, Betty, and their three children, Boyce lived on the dormitory’s main floor so he could observe the coming and going of all “my boys.” Students were forbidden to use the entrance in the rear.


  The only boy on the floor who Hump disliked intensely was a nerd who wore thick wire-rimmed glasses, Charles Yardley Chittick. Chittick wanted to study law at either Harvard or Yale. Hump suspected that he was a spy, reporting every infraction to Boyce.


  Charles had the single cell directly opposite Hump’s. Whenever they would meet in the hallway, neither spoke to each other. If they encountered each other in the shower room, Hump would turn his back to Charlie and conceal his genitals.


  Charles had told Floyd that he considered Hump a spoiled brat, secretly resenting that Hump was invited to Floyd’s drinking parties and that he was excluded. Both Floyd and Hump referred to Charles as “a bookworm.”


  Hump eagerly awaited the Christmas vacation when he could return to Manhattan and take in some Broadway entertainment and resume his friendship with Bill.


  Ten days before Hump’s anticipated return to New York, Dr. Stearns had written Belmont a bad report. “Your son appears bored in class, his mind dreaming dreams of God only knows what. He is indifferent to the school curriculum. He doesn’t participate in sports or any school activities. He doesn’t even try to maintain a respectable gentleman’s C average. Although we are allowing him to return after the holidays, I must withdraw all off-campus privileges. He will be confined to his room, the library, the dining room, and his classrooms. Despite your earlier assurances to the contrary, I fear that your son is definitely not Andover material. Unless he improves in the upcoming semester, I fear for the continuation of his academic career.”


  That Christmas, a few days before his eighteenth birthday, Hump was certain of only one thing: he didn’t want to be a surgeon like his father, and he didn’t want to go to Yale or Harvard.


  Home from Andover for the holidays, Hump endured the criticism of his parents and listened to how disappointed they were over his academic record. He promised them he’d buckle down during the second term and make them proud of him, although secretly he had no intention of changing any of his behavior at the academy. None of the teachers inspired him, and their boring recitations of dates and historical events conveyed no drama for him.


  On the first night of his return, Hump couldn’t wait for the end of his reunion with his parents, so he could sneak out of the house to see Bill Brady. While at the Phillips Academy, Bill had written him almost daily, and Hump had answered every letter. At times Bill’s letters were all that kept Hump from wanting to commit suicide.


  At the Brady home, Hump was welcomed more lovingly by this Jewish family than by his own dysfunctional and coldhearted parents. Brady Sr. seemed genuinely interested in him, and Grace George and Alice Brady filled him in on all the news of their latest theatrical successes. Hump was particularly intrigued by the silent screen flickers Alice was making, although Grace George considered the movies a passing fancy and not worthy of the attention of a serious actor.


  Once alone with Hump in his upstairs bedroom, Bill hugged Hump in a tender embrace and kissed him on the lips. “You’re still my best buddy or did you mate with some other person up at Andover?”


  “I’m still your best friend,” Hump said. “For always. I’m pretty much a loner at school.”


  In spite of this pledge of devotion, Bill regaled Hump with tales of his recent sexual exploits. Hump was surprised that Bill had never mentioned this in any of his letters. “I met this girl,” Bill said. “Priscilla Davenport. I know. A real dumb name. But she was terrific. She let me get into her bloomers any time I wanted. Those secret sessions you and I had together were just kid’s stuff. I got the real thing and it was terrific.”


  “I can’t match your record,” Hump said. “I pursued a few gals at Andover but nothing happened. A harmless date here and there. Maybe a kiss. Nothing heavy. I’d like to meet this gal of yours.”


  “Too late for that,” Bill said. “She moved to California with her family. Her dad’s in the movie business. He thinks Hollywood will one day be the center of films. My dad knows a lot more about flickers than Priscilla’s old man. Dad says the heart of the film colony will still be New York and New Jersey.”


  Hump had mixed feelings about Bill’s relationship with Priscilla. He was both happy about his friend’s scoring with a woman, yet jealous at the same time. For some reason he resented Bill’s intimacy with someone else.


  Those feelings of resentment disappeared later that afternoon when Alice Brady introduced Hump to her new beau.


  Only slightly younger than Hump, Stuart Rose was the best-looking and most dashing teenager Hump had ever met. In his case, Alice didn’t seem to mind that Stuart was younger than herself. She’d treated Hump like a kid, but related to the even younger Stuart like a man of the world.


  [image: ]


  Precocious for his age, Stuart was a cavalryman in the U.S. Army and was home on leave. The Rose family lived on Riverside Drive, only a ten-minute walk from the Bogart home.


  Alice had met Stuart when he’d come backstage to congratulate her for her appearance in the revival of Little Women, in which she played Meg, a role she’d first performed on Broadway in 1912.


  “Since that first meeting, we’ve seen each other every day,” she told Hump, as she took Stuart’s hand and gazed into his eyes.


  Caught up as they were in the theatrical productions of Brady, Sr., each member of the Brady family was preoccupied with his newest film, Love Eternal, being produced on a sound stage in Queens. Even the dignified Grace George, despite her oft-expressed disdain for “the flickers,” was about to appear in her husband’s movie, having agreed at the last minute to replace the film’s original star, actress Beatrice Lane, who had suddenly fallen ill with pneumonia. Grace was co-starring in the movie with her stepdaughter, Alice Brady, who played the role of the naïve ingénue, and young Bill was working as the assistant director to his father.


  One evening, when every member of the Brady family was caught up in some aspect of the film’s production, Stuart Rose found himself alone for the evening. In the same position, Hump immediately invited him to dinner at Luchow’s, the long-established German restaurant on 14th Street so beloved by his father, Belmont.


  Throughout the evening, Hump became enthralled with Stuart, who entertained him with stories of his life as a cavalryman. “Women really go for a man in uniform.”


  Hump was amazed that a teenager even younger than himself had had so many exploits with women. Hump always remembered his introduction to Stuart as “one of the most memorable evenings of my life. With Bill I felt like I was a boy talking to another boy. With Stuart, I felt we were talking man to man. My blossoming friendship with him became a rite of passage into manhood.”


  When Bill called the next day to invite Hump to a Broadway play, Hump had to turn him down. He’d already accepted an invitation for horseback riding with Stuart, who had a lot of free time because Alice “was shooting some stupid movie during the day and appearing as Meg in Little Women at night.”


  Bill seemed disappointed that Hump had made a “new best friend” so suddenly. Nonetheless, to show what a good sport he was, he invited both Stuart and Hump to a Broadway musical to which his father had given him free tickets. But during the performance, Bill felt a little left out and neglected, as Hump devoted all his attention to Stuart, exaggerating his hell-raising exploits at Andover and his conquests of campus beauties.


  Shortly before Stuart had to report back to military service, he came to the Bogart home to retrieve Hump for another afternoon of horseback riding.


  Frances (Pat) Bogart was in the living room, and Hump introduced the good-looking Army man to his sister. Frances was almost the same height as her brother and had a shapely figure even then. When Stuart learned that she didn’t have an escort for the school dance the following night, he volunteered his services.


  Stuart was so captivated with Frances that he asked Hump if he could postpone their horseback ride for another time. He invited Frances to go for a stroll with him in Central Park.


  After Hump returned to Andover, Frances wrote to him from St. Mary’s School in Peekskill, New York. She informed him that she received a letter from Stuart almost every day. Hump wrote several letters to Stuart himself, but only a brief postcard every now and then came in reply.


  Before his departure for Phillips Academy, he hadn’t even bothered to call Bill to tell him good-bye and to thank him for his hospitality. But confronted anew with the loneliness of Andover, Hump started writing Bill again. Hump’s temporarily deserted friend responded with enthusiastic letters, and their friendship resumed with only slightly less intensity than before.



  ***


  After his third week back at Andover, Hump’s dormitory maniacally celebrated the end of a winning football game. Even the stern headmaster, Boyce, temporarily relaxed his iron-fisted rules and allowed the young men to celebrate the school’s victory. Having no interest in sports, Hump had stayed in his room trying to study, hoping for some passing grades.


  Some of the men on Hump’s floor had slipped beer upstairs and were having a wild party, running up and down the corridor. When this party overflowed into the shower room, it appeared that some of the men were pouring beer over the heads of the others, as they showered.


  Anxious to see what was going on, Hump turned off the lamp in his room, removed the antique map, and peered through the hole in the wall at the naked boys in the shower.


  That was a big mistake. Somehow Charles Yardley Chittick, even without his horn-rimmed glasses, happened to notice a hole in the wall to the shower room. He detected someone spying on them.


  Poking his fingers through the hole in the wall, Chittick encountered the framed map, which had fallen back into position as Hump had jumped back. The wire holding the map came unhooked, the print falling to the floor, its glass frame breaking. Terrified at having been caught peeking, Hump concealed himself in the corner of the darkened room.


  “We’ve got a live one, guys,” Chittick yelled to the other boys. “Bogart’s spying on our dicks.”


  As Hump cringed in his darkened room, he heard catcalls and cries of “Sissy, sissy.” One of the young men shouted inside the hole, “Look at mine if you want to see a big dick. I’ll let you be my gal, Nancy boy.”


  The next day, humiliated, Hump darted in and out of his classes, hoping not to encounter any of his dorm mates. When he returned to his dormitory, Boyce was waiting for him and asked him to step inside the library. There Boyce appeared to be under reasonable control but his eyes avoided Hump’s when he spoke. “Many young men go through certain periods of adjustment in their lives,” Boyce said, like a professor giving a physics lecture. “These are natural things. It doesn’t mean that these same boys can’t grow up to become responsible citizens and loving fathers with a good wife and healthy children. I think you’ll grow out of your present behavior. It will take time, though. In the meantime, you’re confined to your room after classes let out for the day. You’re to leave this building only to go to the dining hall. As for your new room assignment, there is a small one right next to my apartment. It used to belong to a janitor who worked here. You’re to take that room. I’ve had your stuff moved downstairs. Your room upstairs will be assigned to someone else next term. Needless to say, that hole carved in the wall will be sealed up. I’ll write Dr. Bogart and bill him for damages. To spare you, I won’t tell him why you damaged the wall.”


  “But I didn’t…” Hump stammered in protest but soon realized that it was useless. He’d already been tried and convicted.


  After the shower incident, the other young men in Hump’s dormitory avoided him, all except one, Floyd Furlow. Catching up with Hump after class one day, Floyd told him that he didn’t believe all the stories being spread. “If anyone’s a fucking sissy, it’s Chittick himself. I wouldn’t take a shower with him.”


  Over a cup of coffee and a hamburger at a local café, Floyd told Hump that the only way he could salvage his reputation at the Phillips Academy was to have an affair. “I’ve been seeing this older woman regularly. Her name’s Medora Falkenstein, and she loves young men. She even likes to do nude drawings of them. I can set up a meeting. When the guys learn you’re seeing Medora, they’ll forget all about Chittick’s dumb gossip.”


  At first Hump had raised a number of protests, including that he was confined to his room after class. “I’m not even supposed to be here right now,” Hump said, looking around the café. “I’ll tell Boyce I was studying at the library.”


  “The Boyce family is sound asleep by ten o’clock every night,” Floyd said. “All the guys know that. Your new room is on the ground floor. All you have to do is open your window and slip out after the Boyces are snoring.”


  Slipping out the next night, Hump was shaking a bit as he knocked on the door of Medora Falkenstein. He was a bit disappointed when she answered the door. A shade past forty, she was garishly made up and wore an artist’s smock. He wasn’t certain what her body looked like under that ill-fitting garment. But even if he wasn’t immediately smitten with her, Medora was enthralled with Hump.


  She invited him in and gave him a large glass of Scotch. She also filled him with compliments about “what a beauty you are, far more so than Floyd, although I love that boy dearly.”


  Hump later told Floyd that he fully expected to get laid that afternoon, and had wanted to get it over with, so he could slip back into the dormitory, letting Floyd spread the word the next day of his conquest.


  Medora had her own ideas about sex and how she liked it. On his third drink, when Hump’s head was reeling, she showed him nude sketches she’d done of several boys on the campus, especially three of Floyd himself. She claimed that she’d moved to Andover just to be close to campus and “its never-ending supply of good-looking men.”


  “Who buys this stuff?” Hump asked her.


  “I deal exclusively with a private art dealer in Boston,” she said. “He has clients all over the country.”


  “You mean women buy this?” Hump asked.


  “Heavens no,” she said. “Men who like to be discreet. They pay top prices to see nude sketches of some of the country’s most beautiful young men in their prime. Perhaps you’ll pose for me one day.”


  “I couldn’t do that,” Hump said, no doubt thinking of the time he’d posed nude for Maud’s art class.


  “There’s a hundred dollars in it for you,” she said.


  He was amazed at being offered that amount of money. It sounded like a fantastic sum. “I’ll think about it.”


  “You don’t have something you’re ashamed of?” Medora asked, reaching to unbutton Hump’s fly. With deft fingers, she removed his penis. “My, oh my, what a big boy you are. Much bigger than Floyd and he’s not bad.” Before Hump truly comprehended what was happening, Medora skinned back the cap of his penis and descended on him, as he immediately hardened.


  In later life Bogie would tell friends that Medora got him addicted to blow-jobs. “She was the first person who ever gave me one, and she was also the best. A suction pump. She never allowed herself to be penetrated so she had developed her technique of the blow-job to absolute perfection since that was her only thing.” Medora would masturbate herself as she performed fellatio on young men from Phillips Academy who ventured into her studio.


  Afternoon visits to Medora became a ritual for Hump, who would go and see her right after his last class of the day. He managed to convince Boyce that he was spending the time in the academy library.


  Eventually, since she always plied him with “hooch,” as she called it, she didn’t have much trouble persuading Hump to pose nude for her. After all, he didn’t have anything to hide from her prying eyes that she hadn’t seen in intimate close-up. Even buck-naked, he was completely relaxed in her studio, unlike his time in front of Maud’s class when he’d been so nervous that he felt he’d shrunk a lot.


  That was not his problem with Medora. Sometimes her sketching of him was interrupted when he’d get hard. She’d abandon her drawing and fellate him.


  His sessions with Medora continued for nearly a month until one Saturday she invited him to come over around eleven in the evening. “My time with you is too brief. I want to make a night of it. Give you an around-the-world. It drives the boys crazy.”


  He wasn’t certain what an around the world meant, but was intrigued at the prospect. That night a heavy snowstorm descended on Andover, and, anticipating his visit, Hump borrowed a pair of skis from the school athletic room and stored them in his tiny bedroom.


  When the Boyces seemed to be deep into their nightmares and snores, he raised his window and slipped out of the dorm, attaching his skis and gliding his way to Medora’s studio.


  That night there were no nude sketches. Hump quickly learned that Medora’s talented tongue could not only tame a hardened penis, but knew how to explore every crevice of a male body.


  Regrettably when returning to the dormitory in the pre-dawn hours, Hump was greeted by Boyce who caught him trying to sneak back into his window with the skis. The two men wrestled in the snow. Boyce’s coat was ripped, his head injured.


  The next morning, Headmaster Stearns called Hump into his office, informing him that he was expelled and was to check out of the dormitory that day, taking the train back to New York. “You are not worthy of the Academy,” Stearns told him. “I predict you’ll be a miserable failure in life, and have so informed Dr. Bogart.”


  By three o’clock on that snowy day in 1918, Hump had told Floyd goodbye and was on the train to Boston where he’d catch a larger train bound for New York.


  Fearing the wrath of his parents, he decided that before he reached Manhattan he would take charge of his own life. He was going to make some bold career move and announce it the moment he came into the Bogart living room.


  Before the train neared the outskirts of New York, Hump had made up his mind. The United States had already joined with the Allies to fight Germany in World War I. He’d join the fray.


  Beginning tomorrow morning he was going to enlist in the U.S. Navy and would write his friend, Franklin D. Roosevelt, of his decision. The date was May 28, 1918.



  ***


  If his parents had been cold and distant when he joined the Navy in the closing weeks of World War I, the Brady family was just the opposite. Brady Sr., Alice, Grace, and especially Bill Jr. were saddened to see him go. Each family member, promising to be on shore to welcome him home whenever his discharge might eventually arrive, had hugged and kissed him.


  At the Bogart home, Maud would surely have dismissed such a farewell “as cheap theatrics common among Jews.” She had given Hump a handshake, as had Belmont. His sisters, Frances and Catherine, had each kissed his cheek and wished him a safe return.


  On June 19, 1918, a doctor at the Brooklyn Naval Base found that Hump was free of both syphilis and gonorrhea. In the event of Hump’s death while overseas, he was told that his father would collect $35.90 per month for six months.


  If he thought life was regimented at Andover, Hump was hardly prepared for the severe discipline of basic training which began July 2 at the Pelham Park Reserve in New York.


  By November 9, about four months later, he was pronounced fit for duty and assigned to the USS Leviathan, a transport ship with a trio of gigantic funnels and zebra-like camouflage stripes. He came aboard as a helmsman, but even before the ship sailed from Hoboken, New Jersey, news reached the crew of the armistice. Germany had surrendered on& November 11, 1918, and World War I was at an end.
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  There was still a job for the crew of the Leviathan, however. Ironically, it had originally been commissioned as the Vaterland and assigned to transport the Kaiser’s forces. However, when the United States and Germany declared war, the Vaterland was in Hoboken and was seized by the United States Treasury Department. After some repairs and alterations, it was rechristened the Leviathan. Capable of carrying 14,500 men, it was the largest transport ship in the U.S. Navy.


  Although he’d never seen active duty, Seaman No.1123062 put on his sailor’s dress uniform with its knotted cravat and white puttees for a victory parade in Brooklyn. The next morning he sailed for Liverpool.


  The vessel had been assigned for the next six months to haul U.S. servicemen back from France and England. En route to England, a junior officer, Robert Browne, demanded that Hump carry away some coffee cups and dirty dishes that had been left on deck by the officers. “Not my detail,” Hump informed Browne. The officer kicked him in the face, bloodying his nose. “When an officer speaks to you and issues a command, you obey orders, boy.”


  “Yes, sir,” Hump answered. There is no further record of Hump showing insubordination to an officer. Quickly learning that the U.S. Navy was not a democracy, he was a dutiful sailor until his term of duty came to an end.


  All those stories, many made up by Bogie himself or his biographers, about the action he saw in World War I were inspired more by the bottle than real life. Bogie was a lot tougher on screen in his trench coat, carrying a gun, than he was in his Navy bell bottoms. Before heading overseas, he was widely quoted as proclaiming, “I’m not afraid of death.”


  He had no reason to be. The naval historian, Richard Wright, in a report filed with the State Department, wrote, “No troopship coming to the coast of France or England by an American escort was successfully attacked. The U.S. Navy transported two-million troops without losing a single man.”


  That didn’t mean that Hump was freed of all the horrors of war. He was forever scarred by what he’d witnessed when returning soldiers were brought aboard his vessel. The young and the healthy came back from the battlefields “without a scratch.” But other, sadder men had lost legs or arms on the battlefields of Eastern France. Some soldiers who’d been the victim of mustard gas were permanently wrecked. “When I saw the suffering of these men, and even though I was just a teenager, the terror of war struck my heart,” Bogie was later to say. “War no longer seemed the grand adventure it had when I first sailed.”


  In later years, it was widely publicized that Bogie had received the famous injury to his upper lip when the Leviathan came under German shelling. That was just a fanciful tale conjured up in Hollywood long after the war was over, the U-boat menace itself something for the history pages. In later years, Bogie was embarrassed by his lack of action in World War I, and often invented stories to impress his cronies.


  Over the years, Bogie also took particular delight in describing shore leave when he’d take the train from whichever French port where the Leviathan had docked, heading for Paris and “all those French dames.” Bogie described in detail to John Huston and others how he visited the city’s famous maisons de tolerance —a graceful term for “whorehouse.” Bogie later claimed that he’d spent an entire week at one bordello on the Left Bank, venturing out only for meals. “Everything I learned about sex I learned in that house with about a dozen French-speaking prostitutes including some from Siam and Africa.”


  The biggest problem with that story is that the crew of the Leviathan was never granted shore leave to visit Paris during Hump’s entire tour of duty aboard the vessel. He did, however, dock in Southampton, England, and visited the Red Lion Pub which staged drag acts so popular with the English.


  Bogie never liked to talk about the most dramatic event of his military career. In February of 1919, he was transferred from the Leviathan to the USS Santa Olivia, which would be sailing from Hoboken, New Jersey, to Brest, France.


  For a final night of fun, he’d gone to The Gilded Cage, a notorious bar in Hoboken that catered to lonely sailors, relieving them of their money and their misery with “some of the most beautiful girls in Jersey.”


  The bar was run by a German-born lesbian, “Isak Smith,” who claimed to be Swedish because of anti-German sentiment in the United States at the time. Apparently her real name was Isak but she changed her last name to Smith because it sounded American. Isak was said to have “auditioned” all the girls who worked in her bar before turning them loose to hustle sailors.


  The Gilded Cage was famous for pushing drinks. Each working girl got a commission for every glass of overpriced booze she pushed onto a sailor. By the time many sailors reached a prostitute’s bed, they were too drunk to perform although they were charged ten dollars anyway.


  Hump had one-hundred dollars in his pocket, and he’d demanded the best-looking woman in the bar. When he left with a beautiful boozy blonde for a room in a nearby hotel, he was falling down drunk.


  He had to report to duty at five that morning. As he later remembered it, his new-found girl friend had agreed to wake him up in time. The next morning her clock revealed that it was ten o’clock. The Olivia had sailed at seven that morning.


  Putting on his trousers, Hump rushed to Naval Headquarters in Hoboken where he turned himself in. He was officially placed in the brig and fed a diet of only bread and water.


  Branded a deserter, he very cleverly decided to call in a favor from none other than Franklin Roosevelt, then assistant secretary of the Navy. He wrote Roosevelt, recalling their meeting and their night together at Seneca Point. True to his word and eager to return a kindness, Roosevelt intervened and got Hump’s offense changed from deserter to “absent without leave.”


  Because of Roosevelt’s intervention, Hump—despite his status as a deserter—received an honorable discharge at the Brooklyn Naval Yard on June 18, 1919, with a ranking as seaman second class—not the rank of quartermaster that he had hoped for. All that he had to show for his time in the service was twelve dollars in his pocket and a Victory Medal—an award that was routinely given to every serviceman who had completed a term of duty in the Armed Forces.


  At the Bogart home on his first evening back, he found the atmosphere even chillier than when he’d left. His sisters were away at school, and all Maud could manage was another handshake. Belmont was away working as a ship’s doctor on a cruise to Florida.


  “We can’t help you at all,” Maud told Hump. Their rich life with a house full of servants was over. “There is no more money, only debts.” He learned that the summer home at Seneca Point had finally been sold, the profit having gone to pay off mounting debts. Belmont had invested the family money in a get-rich-quick scheme in Michigan timberland and had lost every penny.


  Because of his severe drug abuse, his once-flourishing medical practice had fallen off severely as patients drifted away. That’s why he took assignments as a ship’s doctor aboard cruises for long periods of time.


  Wandering alone on the streets of New York, Hump found himself in the same situation as many returning veterans. He was out of work, relatively uneducated, and not qualified for most professions.


  He longed for that overdue reunion with the Bradys, knowing that loving and supportive family might help him decide what to do with his life. He especially missed Bill. But all of the Bradys, including Grace and Alice, were out of town touring with a roadshow.


  Hump wrote Bill in Philadelphia. “Hurry back to New York and be my best pal once again. I miss you something awful. My life’s a waste. I’m a failure.”



  ***


  In desperation and out of cash, Hump tried to find a job. He was hired to work in the mail department of the National Biscuit Company for $25 a week. After a month, and after showing up late for work four times in only two weeks, he was fired. An entire month went by before he found a job with the Pennsylvania Tug and Literage Company, where he was hired to trace shipments reported lost. Part of this job involved inspecting tugboats. Hump had distorted his Navy service record, and had claimed during his job interview that he was qualified as a boat inspector, which he wasn’t. After sending in a number of reports that his boss called “nonsensical,” Hump was fired.


  Out of work and unable to find another job, Hump asked Belmont for help. Belmont’s ill-fated investments were handled by the Wall Street firm of S.W. Strauss & Co. Belmont’s longtime friend and investment broker, Wilbur Jenkins, was a vice president of the company. After Belmont appealed to Jenkins, the company hired Hump as a “runner” for $30 a week. He was charged with delivering securities and stock certificates to brokerage houses and banks.


  When Bill Jr. returned to New York, Hump told him that he “was going to start out like Horatio Alger and work my way up to becoming president one day.” Although Hump hated the runner’s job, he held onto the position because he needed the money to party with his friends. The post-war era had arrived, and Hump expressed his desire “to become a Jazz Age baby.”


  As much as he hated his temporary jobs, Hump loved the rediscovery of his old friend. Although both men actively pursued girls, Hump and Bill Brady seemed more bonded than ever. Their boy/boy sexual flirtation with each other was about to enter a new phase. Although Hump was still considered very good looking in an unconventional way, Bill had grown into a remarkably handsome man, eagerly pursued by both girls and older women.


  The dashing Stuart Rose had returned from military duty and had resumed his friendships with both Hump and Bill. He spent most of his time dating Frances. When Frances was at school, Stuart joined Bill and Hump on their jaunts to the Playhouse, a theater that William Brady Sr. operated on West 48th Street.


  Sometimes, Stuart invited Hump and Bill to one of his equestrian classes at the Squadron A Armory. Originally Hump had been afraid of horses, but he trusted Stuart and responded to his teaching. Stuart pronounced him the best pupil he’d ever had.


  Bill was much more interested in “the theater and girls,” although he still joined in the rides. On Sunday rides in Central Park, they would sometimes be joined by John Cromwell, the director.


  The only problem was that Maud insisted on dressing Hump in fashionable riding gear that she’d seen in English sporting magazines. Hump stood out as a bit of a dandy and terribly overdressed.


  It was a time for making new friends and going to social gatherings in Greenwich Village. Bill and Hump learned to love parties in the village where they felt a part of bohemian life for the first time. If given a chance, Hump would sing at these parties. He had made another friend, Kenneth Mielziner, who was an actor using the name “Kenneth MacKenna.” Although he could not have known it at the time, Kenneth was to become one of Bogie’s closest confidants during his first attempt at a film career in Hollywood. Kenneth shared a brownstone on Waverly Place in Greenwich Village with his brother, “Jo” Mielziner, who was slated for future fame as one of America’s leading stage designers.


  Kenneth later recalled that he and Hump “liked the same type of woman,” although the breed was never specified, since Kenneth’s taste ranged from blondes to redheads, from tall, skinny girls to shorter, more fully rounded ones. “When I was through with a girl, I would pass her on to Hump. My attention span with women was short at the time, and I quickly became bored. I picked up girls with greater ease than Hump who was still a bit shy around the fairer sex. He was all too eager to date my discards.”


  By 1938, the situation would reverse itself when Kenneth married one of Bogie’s “discards,” his second wife, Mary Philips.


  Hump was finding it harder and harder to report to work as a runner on Wall Street. Nights were for frequenting speakeasies, listening to jazz, smoking, drinking bootleg hooch, and chasing after pretty women. Stuart remained faithful to Frances, but partly because of their promiscuity, Kenneth, Hump, John Cromwell, and Bill nicknamed themselves “the pussy posse.”


  If a woman had a choice of these men, she usually opted for Bill Jr., since he possessed great charm and personality. If a girl couldn’t get Bill, she settled for one of the other young men. Perhaps because he was smaller and less dynamic around women, Hump was often the last to get picked for a date.


  For a very brief time, a young actor, James Cagney, joined the pussy posse. Hump and Bill felt uncomfortable around Cagney but Kenneth insisted on inviting him. Unlike Hump’s “sissy” upbringing, Cagney, a man of the streets, had joined gangs as a kid and had learned to use his fists. He was the tough city kid, actually living the role that Hump would play at Warner Brothers when he often vied for the same parts that Cagney garnered, or else co-starred with him. Cagney told Hump that he could not make up his mind: he wanted to be either a song-and-dance man or else a farmer.


  Although Cagney exuded masculinity, when he first met Hump he was appearing as a “showgal” in a revival of a production called Every Sailor. Originally conceived as a morale-booster for members of the Navy far from home, its cast included many recently discharged sailors. As in the original, all the female parts were played by men. When one of the cast members got sick, a friend introduced Cagney to the producer, Phil Dunning, who hired him on the spot, providing he’d appear in drag.
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  “Listen, for $35 a week, I’ll come out nude if they want me to,” Cagney told Hump. Cagney claimed that he looked great as a gal, especially when he painted his mouth in scarlet red in a “sort of bee sting,” like screen goddess Mae Murray. Hump couldn’t believe that Cagney could transform himself into a gorgeous dame. Cagney said that he’d show up for their next night on the town in full drag. “The men will flock around me like moths to the flame.”


  Indeed Cagney showed up two nights later dressed as a woman, and the pussy posse was stunned. Bill claimed that he would have asked Cagney for a date if he didn’t know he had a dick under that gown.


  Cagney demonstrated his skill as a vamp by capturing the attention of the handsomest man at the speakeasy. On a dare, Cagney disappeared two hours later with a young Wall Street broker. What happened later that night remains unknown. Cagney never told the pussy posse how the evening ended, and in his authorized biography, James Cagney, he makes no mention of having known Hump in their early days.


  The next morning, hung over from an all-night party, Hump showed up late for work and was severely chastised by his boss on Wall Street. He was given documents to deliver to a firm ten blocks away. On the way there, he recalled having a splitting headache. Deep into his hangover, and barely able to continue down the block, he opted for breakfast at a coffee shop, hoping that would cure his pain. Shortly thereafter, three blocks from the scene of his ham and eggs breakfast, he realized with horror that he’d left the valuable documents in a briefcase perched on the coffee shop’s coat rack. He hurried back, only to discover that the briefcase had been stolen.


  “Knowing I was going to get fired when I returned to the office, I decided not to go back,” Hump later recalled.


  On an impulse and having given it no thought beforehand, he rode the subway to the theatrical offices of William Brady, Sr. Hump felt that he should have checked with Bill before asking his father for a job but there was no time for that.
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  William Sr. welcomed Hump into his office as he had remained a family favorite. Telling the elder showman of his plight, Hump found him most sympathetic. “I just happen to have an opening,” Brady said. “As an office boy. The pay’s $35 a week.”


  Hump eagerly took the job and was thrilled to be making that much money in 1920. “As you know, sir, Bill and I both love the theater. To be a part of it in some way would make me very happy.”


  “Cut out all of this I-love-the-theater crap,” Brady said. “The Broadway stage is just fine, and I guess it’ll go on forever. But the future of mass entertainment lies in the flickers. From now on, I’m a movie producer.”



  ***


  Hump found his new job as an office boy exciting, as he would relate to an attractive brunette, Ruth Rankin, who he was dating at the time. He’d given her a handsome picture of himself in his full dress Navy uniform, and she kept the photograph by her bedside, which was always there to greet him during his frequent visits to that much-used bed.


  Although Hump humped her frequently, he confessed to Bill that, “I don’t really love her.” Bill chided him, “You don’t have to love a gal to fuck her.”


  After working for Brady for only a month, Hump was promoted to production manager of the Brady film studio at Fort Lee, New Jersey, his pay raised to $50 a week. His duties included renting props and paying off the actors in cash.


  When Brady Sr. saw the first rushes of a film, Life, that he’d commissioned, he fired the director, Travers Vale, and assigned Hump to take over the job.


  Knowing nothing about acting or directing, Hump found a beret and a pair of black boots in the wardrobe department and showed up the next day, thinking himself a budding Erich von Stroheim or Cecil B. DeMille. The stars of the film were Arline Pretty, Nita Naldi, and Rod La Rocque.


  When Bill Brady Jr. visited the set on the second day of Hump’s tenure as director, he immediately fell in love with Arline Pretty, launching a hot, torrid affair that lasted exactly three days, until Nita Naldi reported for work. Bill immediately dumped Arline and chased after Naldi. Hump called his friend a “lovesick pup,” while denying that he was attracted to Naldi himself. Actually he wanted her and was jealous of Bill for capturing her so soon.


  The witty and glamorous Naldi was Hump’s first experience with a screen vamp. Ironically, like Alice Brady herself, Naldi had been raised in a convent in New Jersey, where the Mother Superior happened to be her great-aunt. For someone with such a sheltered background, Hump thought Naldi had “street smarts.” On the first day of shooting, Naldi informed her young director, “Even though I’m supposed to be a vamp in this pisser of a flick, I don’t want to be photographed looking like Theda Bara buried for two-thousand years and just dug up.”


  After five days of filming, Bill invited Hump to join him after work at a speakeasy in Fort Lee for a private conversation. “I’m in love with Nita and she’s in love with herself. I’m having the time of my life, but she says we can’t go on unless you get involved.”
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  “What in hell does that mean?” Hump asked.


  “She wants you to join us in bed. Otherwise, it’s no dice.”


  “You’ve got to be kidding,” Hump said.


  “C’mon,” Bill urged. “It’s not like we haven’t known each other real intimate like. We already know that both of us are made of sugar and spice.”


  Hump didn’t hesitate for long. A few drinks of bootleg gin lowered his inhibitions. He desperately wanted to seduce Naldi. Figuring if this was his only chance, and considering that Bill was such a close friend, he agreed to meet that night in Naldi’s hotel room.


  For the next ten days, shooting on Life slowed down considerably, as Bill, Naldi, and Hump spent as much as two hours a day in her makeshift dressing room. For reasons of her own, Naldi could no longer see either man at night.


  She’d later confess to her Hollywood comrade and sometimes lover, Natacha Rambova, the second wife of Rudolph Valentino, that she’d let Bill get on her first before allowing Hump to mount her. “I wouldn’t let either of them stay on long. When they started getting too excited, I’d make one get off and the other get on. I’d string this out for a long time before letting them have their well-earned climaxes. No woman in New York was more sexually fulfilled than I was.”


  Born Donna Dooley in New York City two years before Hump, Nita Naldi was the first of many screen vamps Hump would seduce. Fresh from the convent, she’d acquired an immediate job as a clothes model at $15 a week before joining the chorus line at the Winter Garden’s Century Roof.


  Hump might have fallen for Naldi, but the male star of the film, Rod La Rocque, had fallen for his director.


  Born in Chicago of an Irish mother and a French father, Rod had played mainly “boy parts,” often at a dollar a performance, before Brady Sr. cast him in Life. At the time he met Hump, he was living at a local YMCA with another aspiring actor, Ralph Graves. A closeted homosexual, known for his good looks, elegant profile, and—years later—for a real-estate fortune he developed by buying up then-undesirable California real estate, Rod quickly became a factor in young Hump’s life. La Rocque had already appeared in a Brady theatrical production, Up the Ladder, with Brady’s daughter, Alice. The play had bombed, but Brady Sr. was sufficiently impressed with the actor to give him a chance on film.


  As Hump tried to direct Rod, the male star of the film had eyes only for Hump and not the camera. Rod even suggested that Hump direct him privately so he’d know how to play his love scenes with Nita Naldi. “I can play Naldi’s part and you can be me in the love scenes.”


  Fellow sailors during his military duty had put the make on Hump, but he’d never been pursued by a homosexual as aggressively as he was chased by La Rocque.


  “The fucker even sends me roses and buys me chocolates,” Hump confessed to Bill. “Like I’m his best dame or something. He begs me to go out with him. I’m too nice a guy to punch him out. Besides, he’s the star of my picture, and I don’t want to mess up his face.”


  Hump didn’t become La Rocque’s lover but offered some good professional advice when the actor came to him to discuss screen billings. “Here is my choice of names,” La Rocque said. He’d written down suggestions for screen credit on a piece of paper which he handed to Hump.


  Roderick La Rock. Rodney La Rock. Roderick La Rocque. Rodney LaRocque or Rod LaRocque. Hump studied the sheet, then wrote, “None of the above. Make it Rod La Rocque. It’s catchy.”


  When Brady Sr. back in New York saw the first footage of Life directed by Hump, he was horrified. In several scenes, the drunken cameraman had actually put Hump into the frame, frantically directing his players. “The fucking director is being photographed directing,” Brady screamed out in his office.


  The news that came in that day was even worse. Two of Life’s bit players filmed in a speeding car were supposed to be fighting for control of the steering wheel as the vehicle raced toward a stone wall. Hump had instructed the actors, Betty Furnall and Adolf Brunnen, to wait for a signal from him, at which point they were to swerve the car out of harm’s way, avoiding the wall. Hump miscalculated.


  When he finally signaled, the car had gone beyond the point of no return. It crashed into the wall, and an ambulance was summoned to take the two victims to a hospital. Although injured, they survived the crash and lived to send Brady their medical bills.


  The next day Brady drove over to Fort Lee and personally fired Hump, taking over as director himself.


  That same day, Nita Naldi informed both Bill and Hump that she couldn’t see them any more. While dancing at the Winter Garden in the chorus, she’d been spotted by none other than John Barrymore. She claimed that he had fallen in love with her and was going to cast her opposite him in his flicker, Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde.


  Sorry to see her go, Hump and Bill agreed that Naldi would be one of the many chorus girls that The Great Profile would pick up and discard. In this rare instance, however, Barrymore did indeed cast her in the role, and Nita Naldi went on to become one of the reigning screen vamps of the Twenties. Her biggest break came in Cecil B. DeMille’s The Ten Commandments, where she played the Eurasian temptress, Sally Lung, who contracts leprosy as a “wages-of-sin” payment for her evil ways. Her co-star? None other than Rod La Rocque himself.


  Brady Sr. went on to salvage Life, eventually selling it to Adolph Zukor for $100,000. After he’d purchased the film, Zukor looked at it carefully, deciding it wasn’t worth releasing. He assigned it to storage where it managed to disappear.


  When Bogie in later life learned there were no more copies left, he said, “Thank the Devil for that.”


  ***


  Out of work, Hump spent the next three weeks writing a scenario for a gory film, Blood and Death. He wrote the script at the 21 Club, then one of New York’s most famous speakeasies. Thinking that such a costume made him look more like a writer, he wore a tweed jacket and smoked a pipe.


  Even though he’d been fired by Brady, Hump showed up at his office with his completed film script. Fearing rejection, Hump was surprised when “Mr. Showman” himself thought the script “could play.” He sent it over to a trio of producers he knew, Jesse L. Lasky, Samuel Goldfish (later Goldwyn), and Cecil B. DeMille. All three producers were too busy to read it, and they turned the script over to an office assistant, Walter Wanger. He skimmed it before tossing it into a wastepaper basket.


  In later life, when Wanger had become one of Hollywood’s biggest producers and Bogie one of its biggest male stars, Wanger always claimed that “Bogart used to write for me.”


  Wanger went on to produce such classics as Greta Garbo’s Queen Christina in 1933, John Ford’s Stagecoach in 1939, and even the ill-fated Cleopatra in 1963, co-starring Elizabeth Taylor and Richard Burton.
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  Following a night of tabloid scandal in 1951, Bogie visited Wanger in jail. The previous evening in a fit of jealous rage, Wanger had shot a well-known Hollywood agent, Jennings Lang, in the groin. The agent managed the career of the then famous actress, Joan Bennett. “I was aiming for the fucker’s balls,” Wanger told Bogie, “but I missed.” Bogie’s reply: “So what in hell was the matter with my screenplay?”


  By 1937, Wanger agreed to cast Bogie in Stand-In with his friends, Leslie Howard and Joan Blondell.


  Hump wasn’t off the Brady payroll for long. Brady Sr. claimed he had no peace at home, because his wife, Grace George, his daughter, Alice, and his son, Bill, kept urging him to give Hump another chance. Brady rehired Hump at $50 a week and sent him on tour as the stage manager for Grace’s play, The Ruined Lady.


  He toured with Grace for six months in East Coast cities, including Philadelphia and Boston. He did not fall for Grace, who remained faithful to her husband, but she later recalled that he always managed to find a female companion in the seedy hotels her husband had booked them in. Mostly they stayed in fleabags that accepted traveling actors. Many hotels in those days refused to accommodate actors because they gave loud, drunken parties late at night, tore up the furniture, and usually skipped town without paying the bill.


  Bogie in later life would view that tour of The Ruined Lady as the most sexually liberating period of his life. “Everything I learned about women, I learned then. I’d had sexual experiences with the likes of Nita Naldi and others, but on the road I met all sorts of women—all shapes, sizes, whatever. I learned that some gals will do things to a man that respectable women never do. After that road show, I found a return to New York restrictive.”


  Co-starring beside Grace was a handsome young actor, Neil Hamilton, playing the ingénu lead. Although Hamilton was headed for a big career in Hollywood where he would become one of its most durable actors, Hump as stage manager wasn’t impressed with him. He called Hamilton “the stuffed shirt model,” because the actor had posed for so many shirt ads in magazines. Hamilton countered by calling Hump “Baby Food.” Behind Hump’s back, he referred to him as “Baby Shit.”


  On tour with Hamilton, Hump needled him for “having such a soft job. All you have to do is show up every night, mouth some writer’s words, and get your paycheck.” Hamilton always protested that there was more to acting than that.
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  Before sending him out on the road, Brady had insisted that Hump understudy all the male parts in case one of the actors got sick. Before the final performance of The Ruined Lady, Hamilton developed the flu and called in to cancel.


  The cast assembled that Saturday afternoon for a dry run with Hump as the male lead. He’d memorized all the parts, having heard them week after week. But facing the seats of the empty theater, he was paralyzed and couldn’t remember one line of dialogue.


  Fortunately for Hump, Grace also developed a fever, perhaps having caught the flu germs from Hamilton during their love scenes. When members of the prospective audience showed up that night, their money was refunded at the box office.


  In spite of what Hump would later call “the disaster that never was,” the ever-faithful Brady family continued to believe in his acting talent. In May of 1921, Alice Brady offered him a walk-on part in her play, Drifting. It was going to have try-outs in Brooklyn in hope of obtaining backers for a Broadway production.


  Its director was John Cromwell, Hump’s close friend who was also a stage performer himself. In time, he would become one of Hollywood’s leading directors, known for turning out such classics as Of Human Bondage in 1934, Algiers in 1938, Abe Lincoln in Illinois in 1940, and Anna and the King of Siam in 1946.


  For Hump’s stage debut in Drifting at Brooklyn’s Fulton Theater, he invited everyone he knew. Maud chose not to go see her son on stage, still disapproving of his preferred choice of a profession. But the ever-faithful Bill Brady Jr. showed up, bringing with him Belmont and Stuart Rose. Stuart was still dating Frances. Hump’s sister had just seen her husband-to-be march in the Memorial Day parade. All three were eager to see Hump on the stage, hoping it would be a triumph for him.


  To Stuart’s horror, he discovered that Hump was spectacularly miscast in the role of a Japanese butler. Alice played a femme fatale, an archetype that would be perfected by Marlene Dietrich in films of the 30s. In later life, Hump called her role “early Sadie Thompson.” Kicked out of her home by her Puritan father, Alice’s character ended up in Singapore “drifting” into a life of depravity before being rescued by a handsome American soldier who falls in love with her.


  [image: ]


  Bogie made his brief appearance carrying a tray of pink gin fizzes. Trying to imitate a Japanese accent, he uttered the words, “Drinks for my lady and for her most honored guests.” Frances and Stuart slid down in their seats in embarrassment, although Belmont later said that he thought his son “did a right fair job.”


  After he became a star, Bogie always derided the role as “the dumb Jap butler part,” as if anticipating the words of Erich von Stroheim who called his role in Sunset Blvd. opposite Gloria Swanson “the dumb butler part.” Von Stroheim made the role the greatest butler part of all time, whereas Bogie’s stage debut hardly merits a footnote in theatrical history.


  Somewhere between the time the tryouts were held and the play’s Broadway opening, Hump and the slightly older Alice began a quiet affair, even though she had married James Crane.


  “It’s a cordial romance,” Hump told Bill, who didn’t seem at all horrified that his best friend was sexually involved with his married stepsister. As Hump related to Bill, “We talk theater half the night and then get into bed together. Fortunately, Crane is out of town a lot. I get on top of her, do my job, then roll over and go to sleep,”


  It wasn’t love, but it was sex. Actually it evolved more into friendship than anything else. Until her death, Hump would remain her steadfast friend.


  Drifting did make it to Broadway and ran for sixty-three performances, even though Alan Dale, theater critic for the New York American, called the play “strangely protuberant.” Its Broadway run at an end, Brady sent Alice and Hump on the road with Drifting.


  Two months into the run of Drifting, Alice announced to Hump that she was pregnant and was going to leave the cast. At first he was petrified, thinking that he might be the father. Alice assured him that the father was her husband.


  After she bowed out of the show, she never resumed her affair with Hump, later referring to it as “that brief fling that often happens between actors.” For Hump, it would become the role model for a future series of involvements with actresses with whom he appeared on stage or in films.


  Brady hired a fast-emerging young star of her day, Helen Menken, to replace his daughter. Arriving at the theater, Helen spotted Hump backstage. She told the theater manager, Glenn Wilson, “Daddy I want a taste of that.”



  ***


  A slender, beautiful actress, Helen Menken—because of her temper tantrums—was known as “the Irish Menk” in theatrical circles. She had moppish hair, a sort of auburn red, and her cupid’s-bow mouth was just as expressive as her hands, which Richard Schnel, a theater critic, had called “the most expressive on Broadway.”


  She looked at the world through liquid dark brown eyes that sometimes left the impression that she was misty-eyed. Her face was thin and pale, made even more so by her excessive use of rice powder. She kept her figure because of an extraordinary diet of two boiled eggs a day and perhaps a leaf of lettuce. That dietary advice had been given to her by the stage actress, Nazimova, who recommended it to all aspiring actresses as a guaranteed way of keeping one’s figure. Nazimova, as Hump was to learn later, had introduced young Helen to the delights of lesbian love.


  When Helen met Hump, she was already an established star, although not yet at the height of her fame. She’d appeared in Victoria Herbert’s play, The Red Mill, to critical acclaim.


  She’d also scored a success in 1918 in Three Wise Fools, a play by Austin Strong. Before her steady employment in the theater, she sold women’s hats and also did some clothes modeling at department stores. Prospective employers always commented on her “narrow shoulders,” preferring, even then, the more broad-shouldered look that in just a few more years would be popularized by Joan Crawford.


  Helen had made her theatrical debut at the age of six when she’d walked out nude in a production of Midsummer Night’s Dream. It is said that the circumstances that surrounded Helen’s true-life stage debut at the age of six inspired the creation of the fictional career of the character of Margo Channing in the 1950 film, All About Eve, starring Bette Davis.


  Poorly educated and born into poverty, Helen had acquired a gloss of sophistication because of all her years in the theater. Born in New York City, she was the oldest of three children. For some reason of her own, Helen was proud to be a direct descendant of John Wilkes Booth.
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  Hump was intrigued by her upbringing, which she called “my world of silence.” Both of her parents were deaf mutes, although Helen had been born with perfect hearing. She learned to communicate with them in sign language. Whenever her parents would get into an argument, one of them would turn off the lights, ending a fight since they could no longer see each other to communicate.


  Helen’s mother earned $3.50 a week sewing identification badges for business conventions, but her father had never held down a job for very long. Helen herself had come from a rough-and-tumble background of acting in road shows and sleeping in seedy rooms above drunken saloons.


  She remembered when one of these fleabag hotels near Trenton, New Jersey, had caught fire. “I climbed down from the second-floor window since the fire was raging up the only stairway. I raced out into the night and was standing out on the highway before I realized I was stark naked. It was twenty degrees that night.”


  For years she’d supported her family and had even managed to send one of her brothers to college. Helen herself had had only one and a half years of grade school. She didn’t enroll in school until she was twelve years old.


  Hump disliked Helen on sight. Because of Alice’s sudden withdrawal from the play, he had only twenty-four hours to teach her her lines. He might not have liked her personally but was amazed at how fast she learned the script. Before the curtain went up the following night, she was letter perfect.


  Unfortunately the play called for a series of eight complicated set changes. Deep into the second act, Hump and the stagehands in their haste had not secured the props. In the middle of Helen’s big scene, the wall of a set collapsed on her, burying her in front of the audience. Hump had to pull the curtain before Helen, who had not been hurt, could resume her theatrics.


  Helen tried to recoup her dignity but many customers walked out, demanding a refund on their tickets, claiming that they had purchased them to see Alice Brady.


  Enraged, Helen rushed backstage to confront Hump. “You asshole!” she shrieked at him. “You little shit.”


  Because of the abuse suffered at the hands of Maud’s ill-mannered and ill-tempered servants, Hump could not stand being called little shit. He kicked her in the rump, sending her sprawling onto the wooden floor. Jumping up, she aimed her sharply pointed high-heel shoe at his groin, scoring a bull’s-eye assault on his testicles. Falling to the floor, he doubled over in pain, which is where she left him as she stalked off to her dressing room.


  It was the beginning of a beautiful friendship.


  ***


  Within six weeks Helen was professing her love for Hump. That love was not reciprocated, although he later told his friend Bill that “she’s great in the sack.” She invited him to come and live with her at her flat at 43 East 25th Street in New York but only for four nights each week. The other three nights of her week, Helen enjoyed the “wild side” of New York with her newly discovered companion, Tallulah Bankhead.


  Tallulah was a gorgeous and outrageous Alabama belle, living at the Algonquin Hotel on $50 a week sent to her by her daddy. Her stated ambition for coming to New York was: (1) to become the biggest Broadway star of all time; (2) to seduce John Barrymore, and (3) to “fuck Ethel Barrymore.”


  Hump had moved in with Helen without knowing much about her. In the first month or so, she kept him like a “toy boy,” not introducing him to her friends or making him part of her glittering Broadway world. It was as if she couldn’t decide what role he was going to play in her life.


  Day by day Hump learned more about his new girl friend. A high strung, nervous woman with a bizarre (perhaps anorexic) diet and a tendency to drink heavily, she worried and fretted most of the day. She read Broadway news with a certain fury, often bursting into violent rages when a rival actress received a part that she felt she was “destined to play.”


  Although bitterly resentful of the success of other actresses, she encouraged Hump with his theatrical ambitions. “After all, you’re no competition to me, darling. Be an actor out in front of the lights, not some God damn prop man. As a stagehand, you stink.” She constantly ribbed Hump for that opening night when the scenery fell on her.


  Helen had some peculiarities. Long before the world ever heard of Imelda Marcos, Helen spent a good part of her salary buying expensive shoes, even it if meant going without some of life’s essentials. She adored her tiny feet, which to Hump evoked memories of Maud’s small feet.


  The only difference was that Helen demanded that Hump spend as much time in bed kissing, licking, and biting her feet, as well as sucking her toes, as he did in attacking other parts of her body. Helen would spend hours washing, bathing, and caring for her feet, with endless pedicures. She would fret over the right nail polish to use for her dainty toes.


  In spite of her lack of schooling, she spoke perfect English. She said she’d learned to speak properly listening to other actresses on the stage, beginning with the star Annie Russell in Midsummer Night’s Dream. Helen’s voice sounded slightly husky, something like that of the future actress, Barbara Stanwyck, Bogie’s 1947 co-star in The Two Mrs. Carrolls.


  Helen was much the same off-stage as she was on, which was very flam-boyant. She called everybody “darling,” an appellation soon picked up by her protégée, Tallulah.


  Almost overnight, Helen became the toast of Broadway. Austin Strong had “loved” her performance in his play, Three Wise Fools, and campaigned for her to be cast as Diane in his latest play, Seventh Heaven, which opened on Broadway in 1922 and became an immediate hit.


  Hump himself was in the opening night audience and was dazzled by her performance. In the role, she played a street urchin in Paris. Her most memorable scene was when she took a bullwhip, and in her rage and despair, drove her mean sister out of the house.


  Before meeting Helen, Hump had dated an aspiring young actress, Katharine Alexander. Briefly smitten with her, Hump pursued Katharine for a week or two. He’d never known anyone who’d been born and reared in Alaska, and was fascinated to learn of her experiences in the cold north. “I can take the chill off you,” he promised Katharine. She never gave him a chance to prove that.


  In spite of her sexual rejection of him, Hump and Katharine would become lifelong friends. She told him that she had never wanted to be an actress, but had studied to be a concerte artiste. For some strange reason, she seemed to take the greatest pride in her heritage. She was one-eighth Cherokee Indian.


  “I’ve never had a squaw woman before,” he jokingly suggested to her.


  “Many conquests are better off dreamed than experienced in real life,” Katharine told him. “I’ll see you in your dreams.”


  When he introduced Katharine to the handsomer, taller, richer, better built, and more successful Bill Brady Jr., Hump’s romance with Katharine came to an abrupt end. She fell at once for Bill. Hump showed little jealousy, and even suggested at one point that “we should share her,” evoking their brief fling with Nita Naldi.
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  After the third week, Bill would stand for no more talk like that. He’d fallen madly in love with Katharine, and planned to make her “my exclusive property.” Within six weeks of meeting Katharine, Bill invited Hump to be his best man at their wedding. Hump asked Helen to accompany him.


  Attending the wedding of Katharine and Bill must have given Helen an idea. Within weeks, she was urging Hump to marry her. She was proposing to him as if he were the prospective bride and she the groom. Hump didn’t turn her down but didn’t accept her proposal either.


  He turned to his friend Bill for advice. “If I marry Helen,” he said, “I’ll be repeating Maud’s pattern with Belmont. Strong woman, the bread earner, supporting weak husband.”


  “Forget about that,” Bill said. “Marry the bitch. She’s a friend of all the critics and knows all the big-name producers. She’ll advance your career. Trust me on this one. If you scorn Helen, she’ll cut off your balls. She’s already kicked them. You may never work on Broadway again.”


  Hump remained uncertain and confused. At Helen’s urging, he went to secure a marriage license, which he would carry around in his wallet for the next four years. In an interview on April 5, 1922, Hump told The New York Times, “I plan to marry Helen Menken.” Because of Helen’s prominence as a Broadway star, the paper gave it a headline. Suddenly, all of Broadway became aware of the struggling actor, Humphrey Bogart. He hadn’t even married her yet, and already Bill’s advice was proving to be true. Almost overnight, producers started offering Hump parts, no doubt with a little urging from Helen herself.


  With the Times announcing her engagement, Helen no longer had any reason to keep Hump a secret in the closet. Her toy boy (although men weren’t called that then) could emerge into the full theatricality of her glittering world. He would meet for the first time Miss Tallulah Bankhead, whom he had confided in Bill was “Helen’s other boyfriend.”
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est pctures togeher

For the 1948 release of The Treasure of the Sierra Madre, Huston hired
his fther, Walte Huston, s Boe'sco-sar in a picure tht became a clssc

Ronald Reagan had desperately wanted to eork with Bogie, in spite of
cartain rescrvations, but he was tod that Bruce Bennett had been cast 35
“Colt” the roe Reagan coveled.

The Treasure of Serra Madre s Johm Huston's st f1msince his retum
o Hollywood. The plot concemed thre Americans who set out in the depths
of Mexico's mowntainous country to search fo gold. Bogie had v looked
5o disheveled. A cric wote that by the cnd of the im he “became fighten-
ingly inbuman—ltle more than a back mask, with white cyes, and 2 woll
o

Bogie's appearance in ierra adre s a fa cry rom that “sprig ofais-
tocracy” on Broadway who invited guests out or teunis.

For his sppearance on scren, Bogie needed Verita more than cvr. By the
time he amived in Mexico o shoot scenes or Siera Madre, he was slmost
completely bald. He'd been taking vitumin B shots o suake his hair grow.
back, but it never ealy did. He'd optto s a wig for the rest o his sreen
e

Huston put Verita on the payrol. She fited his toupées in Burbank, but
i no g o locaion to Mexio 0 it on Bogie’s b hed.

When he saw the final cut of Serra Mdre
‘with John Huston as director and Wlter Huston as
co-star, Bogie said, “One Huston s bad enough,but
two are murder

‘Bogie heard he had't been nominated for
his magnificent performance of Dobbs in Sierra
adre. He climed, T wiz robbed”

Laurence Olivier won that year for Hanler,
competing against Lew Ayees in Johny Belinda,
Montgomery Clft in The Search, Dan Daiey in
Aistes o e o | When My Baby Sniles ai e, and Clifton Webb in

g e | Siting Precy.
Al those guys are homosexual,” Bogie said
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Sloppy sconds;” g sid
Brooks latcr claimed thot Deadline—
/5.4 marked “te beginning of the end
of Humphiey Bogan,He had a few good
pictures e, bt he wast' th same man
e knew and loved Tle was arogant,
umpy during the catiee shoot, ar
mentaive, and he never knew his fnes.
He was vry sarcasic and soopped i the
other aciors, although he rcaled Miss
Barmymore with the greatstof respec
How could e nor?
Richard Brooks immediately cast
Bogic in M.AS.. 66 (iies changed
Batle Circws, 1953). A his cosiar, June:
Allyson played opposic him. She'd been
nown as Amerca’s Sweethear back in
the 1945 Keenan Wynn played th scc-
ond male Tead in this Metro-Goldwyn
Mayerproducion.
When Brooks viewed th fnal esull
he had fo admit, “There s no on-scrcen
chemisiry between Bogic and June atall.
When e had to kiss e, it was like he
s Kising is maide aun”
Bogi alfcady knew Allyson, as he'd
purchased his beloved Saniana from hee
husband, Dick Powell,
et behind the font lines duing the
Korean War, h piture i o 0 be con
fused with the Robert Aluman filn
M in 1970 or te longeming
TV sries of the same mame (1972:85).
Neither the TV serics for CBS nor e
Altman fim would ver want o be aso-
ciated with e lackuster Barde Cirus,
one of Bogie's leser e,
The highlight o e im? Bogiecci | oy s wary s
dentally set his It thumb on fire with s )
lighter id while filwing the scene i |, Mt 019 e

which his chracie of Majo Jeb Webbe | “T555" 5t sogr ord e
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“The fim noir was directed by Mark Robson. Two talented actor, Rod
Steigerand Jan Sterlng, backed up Bogiein is final appearance in this br-
wal, disagrecabie sory.

Bogie would soon be disgnosed with esophageal cancer. Robson found
tha his oice was o clear i some of the takes. Paul Frecs,who appearcd in
the film a  pries, dubbed some o i line n postproducion. He couldper-
ety miate Bogie. This re-dubbing was lter deaied by the sudio

In January of 1956, Bogic and Bacall reported to Warner Brothers for
wardrobe tets on an upcoming im, Mebile Goodwin, U.S.A. But before
production began, Bogie entred the hospital, where he leamed tht his can-
coshd v s coptugsad srad gl s i o

Calld prodacer Millon Sperling, 1 can make our im, but 've got
1ol ol 110 dend s o s coughirg s grew e
pronounced and of longer duraton. Warmers was reluctant to g0 ahead with
the flm.

On February 29, 1956, Bogie checked into Good Samarian Hospital in
Los Angeles, where Dr. Joha Jones operated on him for nearly ten hours.

His csophagus was removed, along, with two.—maybe more-—lymph
odes and one of is ribs Bacall was tod the cancer had been deteced 100
late. The suggestion was that Bogie would no iv t0 see Chrismas and his
birday,

Weeks of chemotherapy follovd. When his friend Joe Hyams asked how
the treaments were going, Bogic said, “I’s shit” Ho'd never been known fo
use that word.

Bogie sl went (0 RomanofTs, though he had no iterestin food. He was
lically a walking skecton.

Verita Peerson Thompson came for a Ginal adi. He secrtly told hr
think Betty has fallen nJove with Frank Sinata, I she’s no in love withhim,
then he's i love with my wife

Bogie was frious when th pressleamed of i liness. He Rated reading.
about his upcoming death. He chimed,

T'm down to my st martiai. The oy
thing ' Sghting st keep my head
above the press”

Inspie of his denal in an “Open
Letter to the Working Press,
checked into St. John's Hospial in
Santa Monica on November 26, 1956.
His cancer had metastsized. Bacall
was warned that et husband had only
wecks o v

Sncl s it ol 19508
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A DEMENTED BILLIONAIRE:

From hisrcklcss purseitof v s ich tccnger o i ol deys a3 demented fos-

il Howard Hughes tastod he best and worst of the <ty b occupcd. Al
c worlds of viton and ctertainmen foreer. This biogrphy

way, he changed o

e

el mside et shout his desimetive sl scandsloa scocitions with

s Hotwond poses
Howard Hughes:
Hell’s Angel & bt

‘Set amid descrigions of the unimaginabie
changes that afiected America batwoen
Hughes's b in 1905 and s death i
1976, s book gives an Insiiers per-
Specive about what monsy can buy-and
what it can't

“Darvin Portrs access to fim ncustry
nsiders and other Hughes confidants sup-
pled him with theresources he neede 1o
create a poral of Hughes that both cor.
oborates what other Hughes biographies
have diwiged, and go them one better”
“Foreword Magazine

“Tharks o s bio of Howard Hughes,
well nover ba abi 1o look a the old pin-
Ups In uite the same way again”

~The Times (Londor)

T

o agtons o o
Sy cesings i soma of

Porars grapy presers |

LOVE! SEX! POWER!
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‘Camping it up with James Cagney (i fgure Fom lf) i drag
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AMERICAN ICONS:
BOGIE AND BACALL
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ABOUT THE AUTHOR

arwin Parter began bis carcer writing sbout politcs s the cntertainment
industry for Knight Newspapers o The Miami Herald. Todss be's one of e
‘mastprolific biographers i the workl. is porraits of Paul Newman, Merv
Girifn, Steve MeQueen, Marlon Brando, Humphrey Bogar, Katharine
Hepbum, and Michacl Jackson bave penersted widespead reviews and ani-
mted rudio and blogsite commentaries worldvide. Some of his biographies
have beenserializa to illons of eaders i The Sunday Tines of London and
The Matlon Sundoy:

He's alsothe co-author along with Danforth Pince, of Blood Moons Babyion
Series, Volumes One snd T,

Darwinis sl the well-known aulbor of snany pst s present eitions o The
Fromaer Guides,a respected ravel guidebook series prescetly adminisired
by John Wiley & Sons Publishers.

Scheduled for upcoming releas in 2010 are Damn Tou, Sarlen O'Hara,
authored with Roy Mosele, exploring the secrt lvesof Laurence Olvier nd
Vivien Leigh; and The Kennedss, 4l e Gossip Unfit o Prin, about the pc-
codills of Arerica’s most sesadslous polical clar,

Schedulod for rlease in the spring of 2011 ars Siaira, The Hovedoir Singer.
Al the Gossip Unfit 0 Prin from the Glry Days of OI Bl Eves, sbout the
200 Century's most contoversil sud politically connected singer; and &
biography of FBI Directors . Edgar Hoover and Clde Toson, & story showt
celebrity worship e he dark sid of the Armerican saga.

When he's not raveling, Darwin fives with & menagerie of nce bandoned
petsin a Victorian bouse in one of the outer boroughs of New York Ciy
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OTHER BOOKS BY DARWIN PORTER

Biographies
Howard Hughes, Hels Angel
Steve McQueen, King o Coo, Tales of a Lurid Life
Paul Newnan, The Man Belind the Baby Blucs
Merv Grifin, A Life n the Closet.
Brando Uncipped
The Secrt Lfe of Humphrey Bogart (© 2003)
Katharme the Grea: Hepburn, Secrts of a L1f Revealed

Jacko, His Rise and Fall (T Socaland Seual Hisoryof Mchael ackon)

And Fortheoming:

Frank Sinatr, The Boudor Singer

The Kennedss, All the Gossip Unfito Print.

1. Edgar Hoover & Clde Tolson
Inestistag e SxaScrets of Arerica'’s Moot s n & Wnen

and in colldbortion with Roy Moseley
Damn Yo, Scarlett O’Hara: The Privete Lies of Wen Legh & Laurence Ol

Film Critcism

Fify Years of Queer Cinema (500 ofthe Best GLBIO Fils Ever Made)
‘Blood Moon’s Guides 1o Gay & Lesbian Film (olunes One & Two)

‘Non-Fiction
Hollpeood Babylon-1r's Back, nd Hollywood Babyion Sirkes Again!

Novels
Buterfles i Heat: Rhinestone Cotntry
Marika (a mman & clefbased n the i of Marke Dietrich)
Venus (3 roman d cof bused on e L of Ausis N
Razzie-Dazle; _ Midnightn Savannah;
Blood Moon, The Erotic Thriller: - Hollywood': Silent Closet.

Travel Guides
Many editons and many varisions of The Frommer Guides
o Eunope,the Caribbean, Calfomia, Georgi. and The Carolngs
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STEVE MCQUEEN N
King of Cool g

Tales of a Lurid Life 3
by Danwin Porter
‘The drama of Steve McQueen's life
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FRANK SINATRA, THE BOUDOIR SINGER

ALL THE GOSSIP UNFIT TO PRINT FROM THE
GLorY Davs of OU' BLue Eves

Hot, Unauthorized, and Unapalogetic!

WATRA

@ i@] The Boudoir s,ngu

PSSTI 0t you hear about the new Sinatra move Martn Scorsesa.
and is pais recanty announced for disrbution woridwice?
Check it out!! This book contains a pantioad of hushed-up scandals about
FABULOUS FRANKIE AND HIS COHORTS!
Avalable in unexprgated fabulusness in Ao 2011

Hardcover, 400 pages with LOTS of photos
ISBN 978-1936003-198  $26.95
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in Hollywood, you'd be pefee for ™

Overhuh at Romanof™s,Huston evealed e e, I wasa seeen adp-
taion o .. Forester's novel e African Quen (1951)

“Tha tired old thing.” Bogie aid. “Bette Davis has been husing that
seip or years”

“T've read the book, and | know the ole” Bogie told Huston aflr two
matinis. “You and | both know 1 can do it But working with Betie Davis in
the wilds of Arca. That's a bit much cven for e

“Would yo beleve Katharine Hepbur?” Huston sked.

s frend of minc. Spencer Trcy's

A fagile-looking hing but tugh s
She'l de-ball us befor the st e
4 ™ Witin wecks, Hepbum, Bogi, and acall
] wcrc wiling on e Liberé to the por of Le

Havee in France. Bogic and Bacall would vist
London and Pars before fying to Rome. Fron
Taly: they would ly 1o Léopoldvile
Belgian Congo (now Zair).

Amiving in darkest Afrcs, Bogie said, “At
least this ilm gives me a chance {0 gt ou of &
wrench cout. It is my desiny 10 play Chalic
Al and desiny is not 2 word | g0 around
wsing”

“Here am he told Huston, st where you
wanied us. O thebanks of e Ruiki River, esp
in the Congo, @ hundred mile from nowhere
Heat, soldie ant, and poisanous. smakes—my
Kind of plce.

Huston wamed him that the
wich was black bcause of decaying vegetaion,
was filled with crocodils. “Even worse than
croes are purasiic worms. They're called bil-
areia. They pnctrate your skinandlve offyoue
feh

O all o the sioris 0ldabout the making of
The Aican Queen, and there were hundeds of
hem—Katharine Hepbum even wote a book
ahout her adventures —Hogie opped thema
(cortarand ot moges) | “John b 0 recruit ntives orcrowd seenes

| 00 ungle. Th b chicfgot e idea that we
fe P | were white cannibals and planned o cat s peo

iver sl
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Brando Unzipped

by Darwin Pt

Lo, raunchy.parceptive.and cotanlywerts
o6, Ona f o o brst showiz bographis o
poey e Sunday Times London)

“Yummy. An nesitalyfarboyant romp of  read”
Books to Watch Ot For

Atoising An extrsordnarly doied poral of
Brando has a5 b, comproming,and X ated
24 man s

Women's Wy

This shocking new book is sparking 3 major
assossment of Brandos logacy a% one. o
Holywood' st macho s

"Daiy Expross (tondon)

“As athr Darvin Porte e, it wasn st et
ing o o Srand conauered. 1was th atrs,
Gay Times (tondon)
Hakover, 625 ndeved poges,
“Branco Uncpped s th deintve gossp e 0 e with handred of potos.
e, rot actr Ho.”
Tho Now York Daiy Nows

b i, i o P, D aonss010 by b Evope
oo 8 e, i e iy i THE SNON TS 1 o
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drama set in pos-WWII China. He called
William Wyle,“Atast | got o be a prist, even
ifa fake one.”

Aufirst he atacked Tiemey fo ot knowing.
her line. But when he came to realize how
emotionally fragile she was, he sofiened his
stance and began o help her in any vay he
could. e told Dmytyk that Tieney reminded
i of his menally il sister, Frances.

Tieeney was motionally shatered st the end
of her rlaionship with Prince Aly Khan. St
wonld soon suffer  nervous beeakdown and be
Sentto 8 mental ward for slmost two years.

I spie of declining bealth, Bogie was con
vinced he could play Joseph in e re No Angels
released n 1955, On the sethe was reunited with
his Casablanca director, Michael Curtiz. Age
had only embitered Cartz, who told Bogie, “1
want o tell Hollywood to g0 fuck me.”

“Don't you mean, you want to tell
Hollywood to 2o fuck tself?” Bogie sked

Know what | mean.” Curiz snappe at
him, “especially when it comes o focking

Curtiz had assembled anal-str cast, ncud:
ing Aldo Ray, Peter Ustinov,Josn Berinct, Basil
Ratbbone, and Leo G Carcol. The film ould
prove o be only mildly eneraining,as i tod of
e escapees from Devi’s sland who find
refuge with a French family. Onee thee, the
convits exticae the family from thei various
diemmas

Robert De Niro and Sean Penn would
cemake the movie under the same title for a
1989 release.

I the sutummn of 1955, Bogie would begin
work on The Hander They Fall, bis las moiion
picure. In this swan song, Bogie starred in &
drama by Budd Schulberg in which he played a
eynicalsportswrite urned pres agent. e real

izes for the first time hows bdly prize fghters
are managed.
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Wild, orgiastic nights in pre-code Hollywood

Hollywood’s
Silent Closet "™ __sii

1SBN 976.0.96680302:0 _Trade Paper 7 x 10 e iy sonces |

746 poges. 60 preos $22.95 e oo
An anthology of Sir studde scanda
from Tsotown's very gay and very
lavender past, i ocuses on Holywood's
socrets from the 19205, ncuding e
controversal backqrounds of the greal
lovers of te Sient Screen.

Valentno, Ramon Novarro, Charle
Chaglin, Fally Arbuckle, Pola Negr,
Mary Pikfor, and many ofners figure
into eyowiness accounts of the
debauched excesses that went on
bening closed doors. 1t aso documents
na ofen ragic exdings of Americas frst
screen dols, some of wnom admiled o
being more famous than he monarchs
of Engiand and Jesus Gnvist combined.

The fist book of s Kind, s the mos inimate and
most realstic novel about sex, murer, blackmal,
and cegradaton n early Hollwood ever wrilen

(The Wyra Brackenrdgo of the Sient-Screen era.

ILush uscious, and langorously decaden. A bian

fprimar of Who Was Who in carly Holywoos.”
~Gay London Times|

Abanauet o fonmtion abou the penserual Invgues of
Fowood betwean 1910 a0 1956 compie om eyow
et s i e 2 vomen,  oftram nsdrs,
o s 2 e N for U, £ s
ames and doosnt sparo he ulty. 11you beteve, e
Tiuman Capot,ha h ety vecimertof gosss wit
Sacome (e Rt of 1 315 carur, e oLl
iove Hollwood's Sen Closet.
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ke
T Knew what was coming.” she lte resalled. “He wanted me back to

0 s mult, bt tht could b taken two ways, and he meant it o ways.
‘What surprised me s ot thathe pitched th balla me but that T cavgh i
‘Withou thinking T sid,‘Of cours, we can take up rght whee we left o

Bogie and Bacall purchased Hedy Lamare’s secluded howse called
Hedgerow Farm at 2707 Benedict Canyon Road in Beverly Hils in Jonuary
of 1036, At irst Bogie likcd th isolation oft, but i e he began o el that

Verita tumed down the airdresserjob on The Big Secp, perhaps because
Bacall was int, bt she was back on board for the flming of Dead Reckoning
(1947) for Columbia Pictures

Bogie' ilm noi had been intendsd for Rita Haysworth b, becase of
commitment 10 Orson Welles, she was ot fce. A suley blonde, Lizabed
Scott, was cast instcad by the direcor Jobn Cromwel, Bogie’s lon
end dating bk 10 the 19205,

Bogie traded in his beloved Sluggy for th
Suntana, paying Dick Powell $50.000 for
ifty-fivefoot hampionship racer which had once
been ovined by George rent and Ray Millnd

Verita bowad out as hsindessr to Bog

the film, Dark Passage (1947), for which he
retumed to the Warner Brothers ot to star with

Bacal again. Ther, he was reunited with Bruce
Benners, who had remained one of his favorite
people. and Agaes Moorchead, who had never
een ane of his faverte persons
‘Castas Vincent Parey, Bogie is framed forthe
murder of his wifs. He escapes from San Quentia
and altrs his face with plastic surgey. The i is
unusual i tht the audience docs not e Bogi
e untlsixty-two minutes ino the fetu
“This is the irt il in which Bogic wore o
fll harpice. It was designed by Veria,athough
she did not appear on he st
For a while, Bogie was miffed tha John
Huston had alked out ot cucialmoment during
the filming of Acracs the Pacifie. But e had 1o
forgive him. After all, Huston was puring his life
o the line o join the Army to defend his country | foms image)
duing a time of peril. “And what were the restof | 50 A1 Lo Sae
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BLOOD MOON PRODUCTIONS

Publishing that Applies the Tabloid Standards of Today
10 the Tinseltown Scandals of Yesterday.
11°S A TouGH JoB, BUT SOMEBODY’S GoT T0 Do It

Blood Moo, a publishing enterpise based in New York iy, resarches,|
indexes, and preservesthe previously ncecorded ora historiesof America's
entcrtsinment indusiry. Reoryanized wih i present name in 2004, Blood
Moon orginated in 1997 as The Georgia Literary Assn, a vehicle for thel
promotion of bscure writrs from America's Decp South.

Since 2004, Blood Moon has generated at least en diffrent erary awrds
They've included both silver and bronze medals from the IPPY
(Independent. Publishers Assn) Awards; four nominations and two
Honorable Mentions for BOOK OF THE YEAR from Forsword Reviews:
and Honorable Mentions from both the New England and the Hollywood
Book Fesivals.

For more about us, including sceess 10 1 growing number of videotaped|
ook trailes, click on s BloodMoanProductions.com, or refr 1o the|
poges which immediacly follo:

Thanks foryour interest, best wishes, and happy reading.

Danforth Princ, Prsident
Blood Moon Productions
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5LOCD MOON PRODUCTIONS ANNOUNCES THE
RELEASE ofhe 75-minu Gocumentry 1 fimed ot
Ny om he e of Avc's o amcusand most
Importan booksoling even. SEA2010.

Boox Exro 2040: Boon Moow's Vaw rrow i Fuoon.
epresens Nson's s atempt 0 Capure—cose.
Jourace, uncantored. and personlizesthe erac.
lone, anas. scandls, and cramas ira exloce ot 3
smal book publsher g a bockseling mega-event
dvolod o the markaing, ping, and oo of 2 erary
producs.

Defie 55,3 b btwon 3 documentary an an lomardl, e i was con-
caved as 0 pubicly and promation pece by Blocd Moon's foundr and prosdent.
anforih Pritc: “Book pubtshers cperae 1 a siat of brey crialed ystor
xpociay i i oconce chenat ho 4. Webi his . we've capurod oo o
o rama ofhow ookt pramd and ke 1 Nl compelive event where
varyons fm Barba Sefand 1 1 Duchess of Yok 3 anaking hs o et o
bon o e semathing”

“ALBEA 2010, onensos,cempetirs and suthcs avcked Oscar igh n Howood
elor the A ars announced.. Prine canmued. This i @ e st a0
epkct,on ke, how & Small res swins in th ranic,sharkrfstod waers of o
ook rade. s 3 documenialon of a spociic mrmert n Amerca's mercantle isoy.
Wh implcaions for Aricasroadinghabts andhow consumers il o, somotns.
g Ggtaation, 1 amuse #x orern thamscos e 216 Corry”

uring e foctage he shot fom witin and near s booh 43754 t BEA, M. Prnce
was ssisiod by menbors of Slocd Noers's el saf,and dircied by Pl bom
Pl Kojstura, winer of sevea firmaking awards ond grans o 1 work wif.
mong othrs, ¢ i b of Sl Caron.

oo Exvo 2010, 51000 Moow's View rrow T Fuoos.
© Blood oo Producions, L Avalbl row,slecorialy and witout charg,
rom e hom page o BloodMoanProductions.com

WHAT BOOK-INDUSTRY CRITICS SAID ABOUT THIS FILM:
Blood Moon Productons, which speciazes in books about Hallpwood calebriy
Scandalsof he. pst-many of which were hshad up o he . s a fesute.
engih oo on BookExpo America 2010, which am 1 cve “nonprolessiona book
pecglean nsight o book "l Hghightng scne Blood Moon e Th rar-
ot Blood Noon prside Danlort Pince, who neniews, amang ofhrs, Carolo
St of Saricads Booka, Philp Rafeheon, owner of Outwi ockatore 304
Cotashouce. Atlaia, Ga., Grems Ak of 1 Bockahop in Syiney Aok
Eugons Schwartz of ForeWord Reviows, and a what seoms 18 ha of the $a1 of
Natonal Bock Network, Bod Moon's butor.

‘She-Avarenss.com- August 3, 2010 (e 2 ssue #1247)
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‘The mariage botween Phillps Academy (above)
‘and toenaged Hump was doomed from the boginning
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accidentally burs some dosuents,

“The sident s clsrly viside o sercn, s Brooks decded fo keep it n
He bter s, “The thumb buzming was the most xciting (hing in the movie
Atleast | got some real pin,no fke pain

Atthe end of A Circus, Hogi ok his riend Brooks, “Lecsnot ke
any more movies tgetce”

On August 23, 1952, Bacall g birh 0 2 sixpound, five-ounce baby
il Bogie named hr “Lesi” i honor of his long ago frieed, LesicHoward,
Who ha gven him bis s hig besk in The Penified Forest

‘Aroune the same time he Bogars moved from thes ustc Benedict
‘Canyon house 3175, 00 roms, whiewashedbrick colanial manse nchic
Holmby il next o Beverl T, David Niven amived 0 see (s nevs maa-
s and mmedinely (0 Bogie, 1 thought i1 vever happen. The of rebel

imsclf has gone Hollywood.”

For s final fim wih John Histon,
et he Devil (1954, the direcor had
assembled a all-sar cat of Jennifix
Jones, Gina Lollobrigida, Robert
Morky, and Peter Lome. Bear the
Devil was intended 3 tongue-in-
check spoof of his carly mastepice,
The Malise Fuleon.

Huston told Bogie that if Sydney
Greeusree had sl been act, 1
would have cast bim fnstead of
Moler”

‘Many sctrsses were considered for
the ol o Grwendolen Chelm befors it
went o Jemaife Jones. Huston sug-
gesed ither Jean Simmons o Audrey
Tepbum. Bogie recommended
sctess named Lanren Bacal

Finaly the name of Ingrd Begman
s proposd. Sho ws v i lsly
a the time and could bave casly
played the role.

Bacal had  more inviguing off.

tm oty At | Coming oul of retrement afe throe
o o tionss | years,sh b ageed to play one of
B Bogr, orse e 0 of gold diggers i How 10
otompn) TomenGopoe | Many o Milfonsire (1953), staring
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ComnG Soon From BLooD Moon PRODUCTIONS
AVAILABLE IN MaY, 2011

Chilling details about the abuse of power on the dark side of
the American saga

INVESTIGATING
e

SED

AMERICA’S MOST

FAMOUS MEN AND WOMEN

BY DARWIN PORTER

“For dacades, Amerca has been n the grip of o homosexual lovers, and
hore's not a God Gamn thing | can o about . He' got us by the cojonss,
‘and he'l nover ot go-  —Lyndon B. Johnson

Paorback. 69" withphotos  $1895
s8N 76-1.036003:25.0
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EPILOGUE

Willam Faulkcer, “out of prit and out of work,” was bired by Howard
Hawks (0 work on the script o Emest Hemingway’s T Have and Hove Not
To the chagrin of his rval, Hemingrvay, Faulkner contributed gratly © the
snappy dilogue, much o it merging fom the beautiul s o Leuren Bacall,
Who was cas as Marie ("Slim") Browning.

Crtcs clined that To Have and fave Not was Hemingseay's worst
novel. When the BogioBacall movie was released, other criics calld it
Hawks" verion of Casablanca.

(Cast s  ough skipper-for e gy amed Hary Morgan, Bogie in the
plot reuctantly becornes invalved with the French Resistance. T aso woos
‘n equally tough charsete, s played by Bacall.

Flawks would lter claim, It wasn' Bacal that Bogie e
chiraeter of Marie. She had o ply Mari fo the rst of her
have fllen for e

1o their love scenes, you can practcaly sce Bacall and Bogart aling i
Tove for real. When she saw the movie, Methot agreed with that assessmeat.
“Hogi's o good on the scrsen n love scencs. But in 7o Have and Have No,
it was elear t0 me e wasn' iking that Kising just for the camera.”

Dolores Moran, wha had fourth illing, b been cast s the lead ocres,
but her part was reduced 0 give Bacal mare screen ime.

Moran, along, with Bacall, was promoed 2 2 new screen personality.
Bacal made i, Moran id not. A populr pin-up i, sbe never stuck it big
in movies, athough she appeared in major films such a5 Tankee Doodle
Dy with James Cagney and OL Acquainiance with Bete Davis,

Moran languished i, ollywood, working sporadically. Neas the end of
ber life in 1982, she claimed, “Had it bt been for Lauren Bacal, 1 00 might
have become  screen legend. She sol pot nly Bogie,but my thunder. lad
she not conxe along. | knos Boic would have flle forme, | was bis ype

1 1944 us February s eap yesr) moved iso sping the fory-four-year-
old Bogie fell in love with the nineteen-year-old Bacall. They didn' mean
to- it just happened.

was the
She should






OEBPS/Images/Back_010.jpg
young man from the slums,

Right before his death, Hellinger had pur-
chased the rights to Knock on Any Door and
plaaned o star Bogie and  young Marlon Brando.

T the movie, Derek says th line that would
become the clarion call for a generation of disen-
fanchised youh—Live fast, dic young, and
leave a good-looking corpse.”

Bogie refrredto Nicholas Ray as o lighning
od” and was impressed with him. The direcor,
who would g0 on o helm Rebe Without a Case
wilh James Dean, was openly bisexual and
eavy us of drugs and alcohol. Bogie told him,
“Lisien, pal, Il jin you i the alcohol, but Il
have to skip out an the bisexual suffand the drug

At the time Bogie meet Ray, he was married
10 the sulry blonde Gloria Grahame, with whom
Bogie would sppear in n a Lonely Place.

That same year Sanan also produced Tokyo

Joe o-staring Alexander Kno., Florence Masly,
and Sessue Hayakawa, the silent screen actor.
Tokyo Joc was the sccond of two films that
Bogie would make wit dircctor Start Heiser
The other was Chain Lighting with Eleanor
Parker and Raymond Massey. Although it was

weapped in 1949, it wasn't rlease unil 1950.

On January 6, 1949, at the age of forty-nine,
Bogie became a dad. AL the Cedars of Lebanon
Hospial, Bacall gave birth 10 a sixpound, six-
ounce by, Stephen.

Bogic had wanted 10 star with Bacall agin in
the next Santana Production In a Lonely Place, a
1950 film noir, but Wames Brothers refused ‘o
lend her out. Insiad, director Nicholas Ray cast
i wife, Gloria Grahame

I the im, Bogiesars as Dixan Scele, acyn-
feal sereemriter suspected of mude. The mvie,
ot flly appreciated atthe ime of i elase, later
became a cassc

During the shoot, Ray and Grahame became
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MERYV GRIFFIN
A Life in the Closet

by Darwin Poricr

“Daruin P s wy o h dox
e i o ool o, ar

Cindy Adams, The NY Post

s cose win s n s sz,
tatu et gy s
i st oot st ibyasod
epods. i e, s and e rot
s

Richard LaBonts, BOOKMARKS

Merv Griffin, A Life in the Closet

e e g i o s By s, v a3 o e 3 s
s st vty e o s sy astod i o eoatcst|
[ s o v wy. o o e vy iy wh e mad
[ o i o dviopn g, e, work s At i e |
e i rr . et e o Ao s oy cosed s

i i compeshanss ography et s sne e’ st i 2007<ebity i |
eonar Do Por vt o amacn dras b o st o s o
[y o it s a3 ey & A’ aranmet sy

Most o his viewers (toy numborod 20 milion por day) thought that Mery

Grifi's ife was an ongoing series of chatty segués-—amiable, seamioss,

uncontroversial But nings woro far more compicatod tan viowersat tho

ime over thought. Horo, from the wriar who unzippod Marlon Brando, s

the st post-mrtem, unauthorized overvew of (o mystarious 1o ofthe
richest and most natorious man i toevision

HOT, CONTROVERSIAL, & RIGOROUSLY RESEARCHED.

HERE'S MERVY s s et
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SIERRA MABRE In liew of marriage, Bogie nd Verits formal-
et

reser on 4l his movies. Agent Sam Ja:
drew up the contract. Beginning i 1949, she
Wwould work o all but four of Bogie'slst cight-
en picurs,

The contractgave her a eason 0 be seen n
pullic with Boi. Up 1o then, they"d hd 10 lip
around in shadows 0 see each ther. Inth fuure,
She'd go on trips with i, arivn

always suid, “My haindresser and my mistress”
The newsmen thought he was joking sbout the
misires angle and

died, which ended Bogi's plans o join with him
0 co-produce fims. Without Hellnger, b forged
abead 10 st up his own production company. As
such, e was the first post-war actor o form his
own’ production company, calling it Santan
Productions fter his boat
By mid-vear in 1945 Santana films produced
Kuock on Any Door for Columbia. Bogie starred
it Jon Derek,them at bis most beautifl
(ot prcts) The film was dircctd by Nicholas
Seomkng e | Bogie was cast a5 @ lawyer, Andrew Morion, tak-

g W, oyt e the case of Nick Romano (Dere), 4 troubled
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Friends such as Spencer Tracy and Ktbarine Hepburs, krowing he was
dying, dropped by 10 pay their nal espects in Bogie’s home. Brave o the
end, Bogic came down cach affermoon to ki iving room to gret od fins
like Raymond Massey a the e oclock cocktail bour. When be could no
Tonger walk, e was brought downstars in s dunbwaier,

John Huston was one of the last fends to see Bogie, fing into Los
Angeles carly i Jnuary of 1957, e was shocked 0 sce the conditon of his
Tormer star, whose weight s down fo sity-five pourds.

Hic eyes seemed o bulge from bis head,” Huston said. “They were gant
eyes. He looked at me, and  looked a him. 1 ever [ wanted o ry, i was
the moment. But | Fgured ifhe could be base, so could L™

Bogie’s ast vistos were Tracy and Hepbum. They amived at five 'clock
o th evening of Janiary 12.Afer chating briely wi b, Hpburn Kissd
him o the lips. 1 dida' suy anytbing to bim,” she latr said. “The kiss sood.
foritall”

“Tracy ben down over i st Kissed i on the mout,

Bog.

Wih those haunting cyes, Bogie ooked into th fuce of s decules-lon

friend. “Good-bye, Spencer”

The fllowing day Hogie drifed into
acoma. He would ot come out of it

Attnded by two nurses, Bogie died
at2:250m on Jasuary 14, 1957,
Bogic’s body was crematcd, his
ashes taken o the Gardens of Memory
Section of Forest Lavn Memoral Park
i Glendale.
On January 18, @ memerial service
was held at Al Sants Church on
Santa Monica Boulevard in Beverly
Hills
Tohn Huston delivered the culogy.
Ho vwas cudowed wil the grcaest
Sift o man can have—talent. The
whle world ame to ecognize . His
e, though ot & long one measured
i years, was arih, ul lfe, e have

oo Ty KSR MBS | o o el any sorro for
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THE

DELINEATOR

The Defineator
November, 1900
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HuMPHREY BOGART

THE MAKING
OF A LEGEND

History’s Most Fasnous Male Movie Star
'HUMPIREY BOGAKT
18991957





OEBPS/Images/chapter_070.jpg





OEBPS/Images/chapter_127.jpg





OEBPS/Images/chapter_119.jpg
ey s ) contpes st
()





OEBPS/Images/chapter_038.jpg





OEBPS/Images/chapter_151.jpg





OEBPS/Images/Back_014.jpg
e, Hston sk fr two hundrd ratves. B ¢ st he e gave us oy
Ve, He sent some omen-—perhaps foner wives-be was bord with and.
some unvanted cilren. Hechared ixpence o he small i, but a whoke
hilin fo the larger ids. When he s we idn't bol then i 3 pot, e
o more natves 1 come e work o s

0 mid e e o] rom Armerica brougs some s new. 11 June
ispach fom Portand,Oregon,sppeard i beadline, MAYO METHOT,
STAGE AND FILM ACIRESS, DEAD.

Atr Bogie dumpd e, Moot wt ongh b money quikl, s she
sk deeper ad doepr o scobalisn nd deprscion.

Retuming 1 Oregon 1 ive outhe inal year, she ied n  seedy motel
room o the cusits o Forand. et boxy wastdiscovred i wo days
e

T e e of Afic, B read e by,
i nlycomment s, “Sich s vast " HUMPHREY

Near the end of e shoot, Bogie's puience wih JfS10)
s 3 with Huston was raing ou 1 he the
uckin jugley” e o bis crctor ~Th blstring
o, and hoke ugs, those aw, never-endig
ugaBogie s “Th only sy o beat e basiard &
is 10 burn ‘em, Kl . Afer you've done
revand younel it thee double Scoches. | waed
o hephum ano Seoc, ot te wate: She did-
7t istn s spent most of o weeks s on the
makeshtcan”

The crew, st e xpease aud diffcly, moved
o Uganda with e ol scenes st i sudio o
e London

“Torough it all, Hepham ke b conl “Darn
Hepbum™ Bogie shoued ¢ Husion, “Dunn her!
She' 0 God dan cheefl. She's gt Killer s i
herbloomens, g ke lde i ershoes, i
he's 30 God s checrf.”

“The B Actor Oscar cempetion for 1951 ws
s toughest n ear.Bogie fced Maron Brando in
£ Seecar Nomed Desire, Montgomery Clt i A
Place i he S, At Kenmedy in rihe Victory
and Frede Mareh in D of o Selesnan.

Broderick Cawford, who it ext 0 Bogie a s
Puatages Thester in Hollywoud, lter revesled, gonw e
“Bogi was & nervous wreck. He junped up and 8o K i
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0 YOU WANT TO LEARN HOW TO SWIM IN THE
SHARK-INFESTED WATERS OF THE BOOK TRADES?

Book Expo 2010

VIEW FROM
THE FLOOR

oo e o s e o i oo e . snd

LR -

s s s o e o bk s
FUPTS e —————

See it for FREE at
bl productions.com

I May of 2010, Blood Moon rented an $5.500 booth at Book Expo, 2010,
the workd's argest Ierary markelplace, and made a 75-minute mowe about

‘Wt happened cuing the maniacal Goings-on tat followed.

Wo ofr it wihout charge to anyone who wants  lesson n how o

maneuver heir way through the shark.nfested waters of he book lrades.
Watch i, dowrload 1, o share I, witiout charge, rom the home page of

www.BloodMoonProductions.com
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Katharine the Great (HEPBURN)
A Lifetime of

Seerets Revealed, by Darwin Porter

A compe

12 lography of the most phobicalyseetve actress n Hollywond

[r—

e o' gt serven A o o st
Amcrica hotas: But vl h apcarunce f i braphs, o ne had evr pob
e timate el of b comphiated 40 feious srvive private i, Thanke
rater proably know WHAT KATE REMEMBERED. Hers, howenr, s 48 umar.
b acount o what Kaharie Hepharn desperaely wanted 1 forge

Betiod the. scenes of her moves, Katharine

rwepiyaei  Katharine

her cosiars and dweciors, and broke o ner [EERIITINEICE
nagrbors hames o fun And somehaw, she

anagediokep st of b pro A hey

oy Koo v Grst s had 10t domn

The door o Hepbum's closet has sk beon
opened. i i he st honestand east
pciogeic Bagraphyof Hobywoads most -
ously pvae acuots verwrton

‘Sonior Life Magazine, iami

tn Poro’s iography of Katharin Hepum,
ot sbout e ot workingsof  movis 60
(RKO n e oty 300), oo renod

e Botom Line, Paim Springs

Darwin Porers Bgraphy ofHepbum canno b ighty dmssed
origores. Conrissaurs of Hopbum's o would do wel
o ek ol 5  ation supplomont~
The Sundey Times.(London)
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When his dhvarce fom Methot came thongh.sh thought, o at lest
opad. it he might resune s relionhip it ot News o s marage
1 Bacallcame e  hok i
T urious t fink, then 1 cried forsevral daysat the ews,” Ve
id ook it 50 hard. 1 i ben betrayed. 1 raged gsint Bacll, whorn
Tviomed o 1 oppocistie Jen e Iy, Pecge ssiacaly 1 i ot
blame Boge o s acton. I appesed hat b removed myself rom e
Toce oo Ton. | was sk a1 hted myself o what 14 done Ko, ks
1o me and 1y dan
Three monts e, calcan in fon Boge, sing b o fmch at thi
ook House where il egan. He ol e b was gl 10 e i s 11
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el e cold reuns tee od relsion-
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I il you & e times. Yous i anly
Vo oy e
et e sl “ s o wlk ut f e
resturt st point, What Gidhe e st 1
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Lonren Baral? e secmd e  woman i i
e
He i o explsi bis marage. “Okay, |0
itapin. o ek i ] go i, Lot ven
know b the el il bppened. Bt o '
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MAUD: I just can't believe that Frances has boen confined and her
nihand b ome 05 b
BOGIE:  “Mothes, St Ros divoeod Francasyous ao.”
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i with Bogie finally came toan cad —with bis fll approval
when she marrid the producer Walier Thompson in 1955. But she wou
rennain Bogic's fiend and occasional companion o the end.

it remained married to Thompson unil his death in 1975. A few
morahs aer she opened Veria's La Cantina on Sunset Boulevard. I 1982 she
wrote A Love Sory, Bogie and Me, revealing what much of tour Hollywood
aleady knew.
Inthe 19905 she moved to New Orlans and opened a pian bar,naing.
it “Bogic and Me.” When Huicanc Katrina was.
roaring dovwn on the city, she refused th offr ofa
privte et 1o escape the siom's fury. “Lausen
Bacall filed o chase me out of Hollywood
Katrina won't frce me outof New Orlean.”
‘Writer Lary Cone encountered Vrita in 2005
and wrote: “Verita Thompson,  woman o her ltc:
80— drsscd 10 the nincs in ishnet stockings and
high heclsswirled to masic with the et of s,
She once had an afsr with Humphrey Bogart, e,
were (ol Shes. egulara the lubs and s eted
it reverence by everyone
Nerita died in New Orlcans on February
2008, Unde her pillow a maid found Bogie's ong.
a0 toupée.
T the spring of 1955, the Holmby Fills Rat
Pack was bom when Bacal suveyed the wreck of
a our-day paryin Las Vegas. “You look ik god-
damn rt packi® she told the boy.
A lgend was bom. Afer Bogie’ death, Frank
Sinats notonly became the leader of the Rat Pick,
but he filled Bogie’s shoes in another way, becom-
ing the temporary boyfriend of Bacall
Erom the sct of The Desperate Hour, Bog
began filming The Lafi Hand of God for 2
Century Fox. His beautful co-sar was Gene
Tierney, former misiess of John . Kennedy.
Bogic warked again, with Edward Dinyiyk,
with  supporing cast of fmila fucc, including
Lee 1. Colib, Agnes Moorchead, nd F.G Marshal
Tn the film, Bogie managed (o be convincing
posing as  clergyman with diverting results n this
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Wildly more outrageous than Volume One:
“This i Volame T of Bl Moon's Babyln Scis

Hollywood Babylon
Strikes Again!

Hot, Unauthorized, aad Unapalogetic!

HOLLYWOOD
BABYLON
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PAUL NEWMAN

‘The Man Behind the Baby Blues
His Secret Life Exposed

most revelatory biography _sbout

Hollyodspr.cmiocot male sex symbol, e
with dorens of porcally shocking revela o
tons, m
By
Whercas the sinations it exposes were .wzs

widly known ithin Hollywood's nncr
ciles, they've never bforsbeen revealed
Tothe genea pblic

Iyoueafn of Newran and who doyou _HIS SEGRET LIFE EXPOSED _
Knon who ) you el shoid ook st
s book s a respecful bt candid cor

nucopi of informaton sbout the sexusl md

crotons adventrs of 3 young i on
Broadvay and i Hollywood ;\
e T e o o vt ot ]

eaai;snd s e st ot s st
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Dacing the shoot, Melot amed fony, bt
e ] sty disppeared somesehere i btile
Bt 2707 0B o corch. She'd ot ft o no longer went 10
i s Ofenshe sppsredwithow ke
up making e look even e hanshe s
The immacultely prooed Bacall, in o
it was the e of New Yotk chiclokiog
orte st pas i she sepped o e ages
of Harpers oz
During the carly days of her courship with
Boge, Bacll met i i the shadows, keepng
hek ve affir 8 secret, altiough Haws was
v of it from the very beginmn.
ek Waet 0l bis collaguss, T Bacll,
we bave another Mirlene Dietich in e making
Al all. The Kraut it geting any younger. |
oar he e v cxi s g et e
velresppeating i puli”
T the wake of the siceess of To Have and
Have Not, and Tacalls stning screen de,
Howard Hawks cast te loveind in The Big

Slep (1946), with dialogue alo writen in part by
William Faulkocr, and music by Max Scine. The
hind Tead was played by John Ridgel, who bad
stamed with Bacall i her screen tet.

This il moi was he frst movi version of
Raymord Chundler’ 1939 nove, aturing the
Chacter of detctive Phiip Marlove, The plot
was comvoluted, and many fans did not fully
undrstand it but wert fo scc it hecause of the
“Boge anx Bucall”phencmenon, Even he oigi-
ol author, Raymond Chandler, couldo't fgure
ot who the murderer was.

Because of Bogie's ongoing allir with
Bacall and his maital probles, his drinking
became cven heavier during the shoot and on

L o doys e was unsble o work

When Chandler saw the finished cut, he
climed that Marth Vickers hd delivered sichan
intense._performance that she. overshadaved
Bacall That lad to much of Vickens” work ending
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50 Years of Queer Cinema
500 of the Best GLBTQ Films Ever Made

An indispensable reference source for films about

The Love that Dare Hot Speak Tes Name

s lte as 1958, homosexually couldnt
even be mentioned in a movie, as 5OYEARS
proven by i claboratelenghh the pro-

ducers of Ternessee Willams swampy [l e AL STMIASSS
Cal on a Hot Tin Roof ook t evade e IRCTISTITNSINIIVYY
bvious fct that s hero, P Newman,

was playing il gay. And in spile of e
alaborat lengins s producers (ock (0
camoufage s lavender aspects, in-the-
know viewers during the late 50s reak
iz6d al slong that Joe E. Brown was.
flly aware that Jack Lemmon wasnt
bologcal female (nobady's perfect) I
Some Like it Hot (1959).

“That Kind of baroque subteuge endecd
abruply in 1960, when cinoma emerged
from s celliad cosel, Wi the reease.
of Boys inthe Band I 1970, gay cnema
had come of age—Il was queer and hero lo siay. Decades laier came
Brokeback Mountain, Transamenica, and Mik

s comprehensive anthology documents i al,bringing ntofocus a sweep-
ing. rundown of cinema's. most inlirquing Gay. Lesbian, Bisexual,
Transgendered, and “Queer Questioning”fims (at deserves ahome next o
the DVD. player a5 well as on the reference shelves of publc barios.
‘Gruca to he vabilly of s book s the fact hat new DVD releases have
made those fims avaiable (o new generations of viewers for 1o frst ime
Since their rginal eiease.

More than just a dusty liorary reference, tis book shamelessly spls 50
quasi-lossted years of Hollywood secrets—all of them n glorious
Technicaor
‘A comprehansive paperback designed 75  reference source Tor B
private homas and baries. _ 524 pages,wit 500 pholos
1S8N 9781936003099 52495
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estrnged. Ray came home one night and found
his wie in bed withbis teenge son Later, when
he came of age, Grabame married her former
stepson, Anthony Ray, with whorm she had two
ehidren

Bogie did not like the script for Wamer
Brothers” film. Murder Inc, and 10ld diector
Bretaigne Windust that he fot it was “old fash-
ioned.” He was cas with such veteran actors a5
B 7cro Mol Ted de Corsia, and Fxeret Sune,

The ttle was laer changed to The Enjorcer

dinctor, became il Raoul Walsh took aver, but
insisted that he not be credited, wanting Windust
1o take the honor

. Boie played a disict
torncy, Mastin Ferguson, i his ane.

T anatber film produced by his own studio,
tana, Bogie signed 1o star in Socco (1951),
with one of his best aay of charactr actor,
including Lee J. Cobb, Everet Soanc, and Zero
Mostel(once again). Cast as Harry Smith, Bogic

womumss oo plays a gun runner in French-occupi

Bopat i Porrce M | Daascus in the yar 1925,

(o image ) His female lead was Marta Toren, the
Bt s vktoe | Swedish-bom setrss who joined thepantheon of

‘xotic European sars that Bogie appesred wi
it lte 405 and S5
Bogic found Toren intiguing because she
G wassecrtly dating Dr. Pttr Lindsirom, the for-
‘mer hushand of ngrid Bergman. When  reportcr
visitng the et asked her sbouther omance wi
Lindstrom, Toren climed, “l met im only once

he way to tell e, gal. Whena rporte asks
about my misees, T always claim sbe's my b
dresser”

“Petier told me you were once in love with
Bergman,” Toren sud. s that true?”
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Aexandor Woolcolt






OEBPS/Images/chapter_116.jpg
g

2






OEBPS/Images/chapter_159.jpg





OEBPS/Images/chapter_010.jpg
s oA






OEBPS/Images/Back_042.jpg
The Revealing, Tempestuous Lives of the 20th Century's
Most Flamboyant Theatre Couplo, as recorded by people
Who knew them intimately.

DamnYou,
OH

ol
The Private Lives of Vivien Leigh
and Laurence Olivier

The scandalous love afar of “The Royal Faily of the Brlish Stage” was
second in fame and nolorety only 1o thal of the Duke and Duchess of
Windsor. Co-authors Roy Mosaley (the couple’s adopted godson, long-
standing frend, and personal assisant) and Darwin Porter ear away the vor
Vet curtain previously daped over the repulations of this famous, team,
expasing wih searing nsighs the depths of hir sexual excess and ntrper

soal anguish. Some of the most conic fgures of he 201 century move
hrough chaptes that highight a revelaton on every page

Available November, 2010, Hardcover_435 pages with photos.
978-1.936003-150. 52195
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Bogie's abortve debut as a helmer involved directng sient-fim stars
Atino Proty (top right), Nia Naidi (battom of) and Rod La Roque (bottom right) in Lifo.
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I 1980, Darwin Porerherited a vast hut disosganized arhive that hd been
ompid over & period of SO yers by eyewitnesss to the Jezz-Age shenani-
s of Humplzey Bogiet. Ensching it with infomation fio playess who,
eitherloved or haed Bogar o borh), Poser dislled ths reasure rove ofis-
tocic data o ane blockbuser o  Hollywood resd "

Danforth Prince

“Porers biography is laced with gossippy gerns. T also uinis @ sympathetc
portait of Bogart as & loyal friend who went cut of his v to help others. e
ko i some sendalous skeletons i i close.”

“The Nationl Enquirer

“Porer’s book ncovers sl within the entectinment industy, when pub-
Ticiis from the movie stclios delberately tisied an suppressed ioconsenient
detils sbout the lives of theis cmerging sas.”

Turner Classic Movie News

“Homphsey Bogact was one of Hollywoud's most celebuated lovers, bis
romnce it Luuren Bocall hiled as one ofthe greatest love stories ofthe 2061
ccntury. But bfore they met, he was & drug-taking womanise, kg up o
Sring of fuiled marrisges and broken relstionships with some of the warld's
‘most besutiful women. Here, in an exraondinary biography drawing on o
wealth of previously unseen mateial, veteran showbusiness writer Dania
Porter teveals the explasive truth bebind Bogar's shady pas.”
“The Mall on Sunday (London)
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For his next film, Key Largo (1938), John
Huston teamed Bogie and Bacallagain i this il
noir set in the Florida Keys. Hluston o reunited
Edward G. Robinson with Bogie. casting
Robinson as a gangster once again,this ime play-
ing Johnny Roceo, based on Al Capone.

Originally Huston had wanied Coarles Boyer
forthe role, but Jack Warner had screamed at him
that the French actor was bos offce poison.

In supporting roles, Huston hired Lioncl
Barrymore, who performed in a wheelchair. B
also had a reanion with Chare Trevor, with whom
he'd had a bref ling years before.

Bogic was cast in a syn
longera gangster. He played Frank McCloud, who
vists @ small backwater Key Largo hotel run by
Barrymore and his daughter-in-law, Nora, the
widow of Frank’s WWII friend. Once there, he
becomes trapped  the motcl which Roceo and his
gang have taken over.

Although major taleat was involved, Trevor
‘would take home the Oscar as Best Supporting
Actress for playing Robinson's boozy moll. Her
singing “Moanin’ Low" a cappeila was probably
the scene thatwon her the Oscar. The Trevor char-
acter of Gaye Dawn was based on the real-ife 2% 5 ard 4 images o
moll, Gay Orlova, of gangster Lucky Luciano, | **" ™" /4%
Key Largo would mark the fourth and final pai. |Bop3r, Clao Trvo & Boca:

ing of Bacall and Bogic. oo
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only for ounelves for having lost him. He s quie replaceable. There will
ever e another ke him.*

Mary Astor, Bogic's co-starin The Maliese Falcon,atempted 1 cxplain
the Bogie cut that grew by the thousands in the wake of his carly death.

“The Bogart cult thai has emerged is very understandable. There h is,
rght there o the scrsen,saying what cveryone s (rying to uy today. sying.
itloud and clea. I hate hypocrisy. | don'tbelieve in words o labels or much
of anythingclse. 'm not a hevo. ' 3 human being. I'm not vry prety: Like
me or don'lke me.” We who Knew him wel liked him, Bogie was forreal"

One of the nurses who attndsd Bogie i his final hour revealed o the
press his final words:
Should never have switched from matinis to Scotch™
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down and out of isscat a hundred imes. When his name was announced. he
was sweating blood. He was so flstered he fuffed his ad-ib, sammered &
polite thank you, and siepped on Greer Garson's to s she handed him the

ey
e e v o ot
Moo e Ay o
o I O e oy s
BOGART ALIVSON b S s s

BATTLE CIRCUS seromore. e srnd same of s e

B oo had ey sy wih e o
(BUINBE  Barymor i ey Lo
R s Fiend of Do, Dok had
iy o ot el i
o oty appared Sl aposic
Macin Bando 4 Svecr Nomed D,
X Rounding o o it wr soch v s
A ey, Pl Stowi, and sG]
Boge e o ichson, acading
i o of e o new:
o e he Doy
o gt e o of it it vl e ke 0
ok o T nevsapr Boge g ot
iy of i N Tk D News

Years laer when James Dean stated to
receve such acclaim, Bogie said, I once made
a movie with Dean” He was refering, of

, cours, to Deadline—US A, Cast as an exta,
= Dean appears oy brifly i the moe.

(tmoknerimgag) Bogatassn | Shoating had alrcady begun when Brooks,

sy sugcnin Kara | Bogic's longtime fiend, told him that Darryl

Zanuck. had wanted cither Gregory Peck o

£ Richard Widnmrk for the lad. “Hlre | am, &

it hmoncn | fucking Oscar wimne, and stll I'm geting
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L THE o e e
DESPERATE JNHEr it

Wi Funphrey Bogun
Right belore Bogie's Chrisimas
vinhday i 1955, he signed 3 del with
Hary Cobn, the hief honchoof Columbia
res. Wil a srke of Bogie’s signa
B e, his producion compan, Sant
became hiory, at fest for i, The sle
e i a million dolars.

Vera Ptrion had remsined con-
ant in Bogies e up untl 1955, Since
“he had become an mploye, he brought
e o s il e, irdicing et (0
Bocal Thee i  photograph of s cuting

he bt of Bogie's so, Sphen
1 seemed hypocrlcal s hll for
o do with Bogies
sgrecd withme
e cetars | pincile, b poimed out that it would
ke suspicion € 1 did's s 35 an
e S22 | cploye of i nommaly would, And so1
o | became more ol with Bety s the
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up on the cuting room floor. She e forgave Hawks for that,
A stllar supportng cast was lined up for The Big Sleep, including.
Dovothy Malone and Regis Toomey. Bogie was reunited with Elicha Cook Jr.
1 such thing were possible, Methot increased her own eonsumption of
alcohol. During one fght with Bogie, she fell down and broke her foo,
Recovering i bed, and furiousa the news of Bogie’s
Yt thee o'clock one morming in October:
oing o wash his socks? Are you? Are you goi
i A this point hee mariage o Bogie was over except fo the divorse
On October 10, 1944, Wamers announced the separaton of Bogic and
Methat,but, lmost unbelievably, they had a reconclation two weeks .
‘O December 4, Bogie, following one of their st vilent fight, ran out
of the house for the final time.
At the wiap of The Big Sleep in Janwary of
1945, Bacall retumed to New York, and Bogic
was hot o trot on her tril. That month he
annaunced to columnist Earl Wilson that he and
Bacal would marry.
Back in Hollywood, h fimed The Ty Mrs
Carmolls (1947) with Barbara Stamwyek. This was
followed by a May 10 divorce fiom Mehot, in
‘which she got two-thirdsof his ash,
At long last, on May 21, 1945, Bogic and
Bacal were married in Lucas, Ohio, on Malabar
Fam, belonging 10 Bogic’s frend, the writer
Louis Bromiield, a descendant of Daniel Boone.
“Their honeymoon was spent cruising in Sz
along the Califomia cosst.
By August 15, World War I was over, a Cold
War about to begin. It sppeared that Bogie had
seted nto s happy marrage. Bt there were com-
pications.
It woulda't be quit the storybook romance
that publcitsor even biographers have suggest
o

Back in Burbank, Verita Peterson had read in

ihe paperstht Bogic was secing  young acress | Setomimoe)

named Lauren Bacal She didn't realize the Sei- s cnsesenryspmomani
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